

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

CHALLENGES AND PRACTICES OF ACADEMIC ENGLISH COMMUNICATION AMONG LIBYAN INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS IN FIVE SELECTED UNIVERSITIES IN MALAYSIA

AHLAM ALI SALIM HALALI

FPP 2022 29



CHALLENGES AND PRACTICES OF ACADEMIC ENGLISH COMMUNICATION AMONG LIBYAN INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS IN FIVE SELECTED UNIVERSITIES IN MALAYSIA

By

AHLAM ALI SALIM HALALI

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studie, University Putar Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

CHALLENGES AND PRACTICES OF ACADEMIC ENGLISH COMMUNICATION AMONG LIBYAN INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS IN FIVE SELECTED UNIVERSITIES IN MALAYSIA

By

AHLAM ALI SALIM HALALI

August 2022

Chairman : Lilliati binti Ismail, PhD Faculty : Educational Studies

Malaysian universities' use of English in instruction provides Libyan international students, reportedly the seventh largest ethnic group enrolled in Malaysian universities, opportunities to study in various academic fields, However, Libyan students encounter communicative challenges in Malaysian ESL learning environments stemming from insufficient prior EFL learning experience and resultant deficiencies in communicative competence, contributing to communicative language anxiety. Consequently, the students develop mediating learning strategies. Therefore, this study investigated EFL Libyan students' academic listening and speaking challenges, their mediating learning strategies, and the effects of prior learning experiences and communication language anxiety on their academic communication challenges and strategies. The investigation adopted an explanatory mixed-mode research design with the assistance of Libyan Embassy employing an online questionnaire survey with 223 respondents. Interviews and a focus group discussion were conducted with 20 survey respondents selected through purposive snowball sampling. Field notes and member checks were used for data triangulation and validation. Correlational procedures and structural equation modelling using bootstrapping resampling analyses with SPSS and AMOS were conducted to investigate the cause-and-effect relationships between variables, determine the validity of study models, and test the research hypotheses. NVivo analysis was performed for the interviews and focus group discussion for coding and generating themes from transcript data supported with field notes.

The results showed that Libyan students experienced listening comprehension challenges in understanding accents, academic content, and cultural differences. The qualitative results revealed the participants' listening comprehension in active communication was negatively affected by insufficient prior knowledge of academic terminology and anxiety. The students speaking challenges in academic discourse were due to their inadequate communicative competence and resultant cognitive inhibition.

Qualitative analyses revealed students' reluctance to participate in academic discourse resulted from insufficient academic speaking practice which increased their anxiety, blocking comprehensible input. Thus, the students implemented strategies to improve their academic communication skills.

The listening strategies, in ranked order, were metacognitive, cognitive, compensatory, affective, memory-related, and social strategies. The students' preference for metacognitive and cognitive listening strategies over social strategies was attributed to their negative learning experiences combined with consequential communication anxiety, which discouraged social interaction. Thus, metacognitive and cognitive listening strategies promoted the students' self-reliance and self-motivation to improve listening comprehension through repetitive listening with reduced anxiety, supporting the storage and retrieval of information between short- and long-term memory. The speaking strategies, in ranked order, were memory-related, metacognitive, affective, compensatory, cognitive, and social strategies. Qualitative results revealed the Libyan students preferred memorisation and self-practice over social strategies. Their reluctance to employ social speaking strategies was because their insufficient prior learning experience resulted in poor communicative competence contributing to communication language anxiety. Memorisation facilitated the students' mental language modelling, enabling internalisation of their communicative environment.

Quantitative analyses revealed the Libyan's prior learning experiences and communication language anxiety were significantly correlated with their listening and speaking challenges and strategies. It was further found that prior learning experiences and communication language anxiety had mediating effects on the listening and speaking challenges and strategies.

Therefore, stakeholders should consider Libyan academic communication challenges resulting from inadequate prior English learning experience affecting their learning success in international higher education through developing and improving English language practice through educational materials and resources that improve English learners' academic success. Additionally, pre-sessional English programs at Malaysian universities should be aligned with students' fields of study, emphasising academic terminology enhancing their communicative academic discourse. As the main theoretical components addressed in this research are Piaget's (1936) cognitive theory, and Krashen's (1982) affective filter Hypothesis. Therefore, additionally, emphasising the importance of communication theories towards understanding internationals academic communication skills from EFL context by investigating the psychological factors influencing learners' engagement and cognitive communicative competence enabling internationals to communicate and critically participate and corresponding progression in their learning.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

CABARAN DAN AMALAN AKADEMIK BAHASA INGGERIS KOMUNIKASI DALAM KALANGAN PELAJAR ANTARABANGSA LIBYAN DI LIMA UNIVERSITI TERPILIH DI MALAYSIA

Oleh

AHLAM ALI SALIM HALALI

Ogos 2022

Pengerusi : Lilliati binti Ismail, PhD Fakulti : Pengajian Pendidkan

Penggunaan bahasa Inggeris dalam aktiviti akademik di universiti-universiti di Malaysia membuka peluang belajar dalam pelbagai bidang akademik kepada pelajar antarabangsa Libya yang dilaporkan sebagai golongan etnik ketujuh terbesar mendaftar di universitiuniversiti Malaysia. Walau bagaimanapun, pelajar Libya menghadapi cabaran untuk berkomunikasi dalam persekitaran pembelajaran ESL di Malaysia disebabkan oleh kurangnya pengalaman dan pembelajaran EFL dalam kecekapan berkomunikasi seterusnya menyebabkan terjadinya kecemasan bahasa komunikatif. Kesannya, pelajar akan membangunkan strategi pembelajaran pengantara. Oleh itu, kajian ini mengkaji tentang cabaran mendengar dan bertutur EFL dalam bidang akademik yang dihadapi oleh pelajar Libya, strategi pembelajaran pengantara yang digunakan serta kesan daripada pengalaman pembelajaran terdahulu dan kecemasan bahasa komunikasi terhadap cabaran dan strategi komunikasi akademik mereka. Penyelidikan ini mengadaptasi reka bentuk penyelidikan mod campuran penjelasan dengan bantuan Kedutaan Libya, menggunakan tinjauan soal selidik dalam talian terhadap seramai 223 orang responden. Temu bual dan perbincangan kumpulan berfokus telah dijalankan dengan seramai 20 orang responden tinjauan yang dipilih menerusi persampelan bola salji bertujuan. Nota lapangan dan semakan ahli responden digunakan untuk triangulasi dan pengesahan data. Prosedur korelasi dan pemodelan persamaan struktur menggunakan analisis pensampelan semula tarikan rawak bergantian dengan SPSS dan AMOS telah dijalankan untuk mengkaji hubungan sebab dan akibat antara pemboleh ubah, menentukan kesahan model kajian dan menguji hipotesis kajian. Analisis NVivo dilakukan bagi temu bual dan perbincangan kumpulan berfokus untuk tujuan pengekodan dan penjanaan tema daripada data transkrip yang disokong dengan nota lapangan.

Hasil kajian menunjukkan bahawa pelajar Libya mengalami cabaran kefahaman mendengar dalam memahami loghat, kandungan akademik dan perbezaan budaya. Keputusan kualitatif mendedahkan bahawa kefahaman mendengar peserta dalam komunikasi aktif dipengaruhi secara negatif oleh pengetahuan sedia ada yang tidak mencukupi tentang istilah akademik dan kebimbangan mengenai perbezaan budaya bangsa lain. Cabaran bertutur pelajar dalam wacana akademik disebabkan oleh kecekapan komunikasi yang tidak mencukupi dan seterusnya menyebabkan rencatan kognitif. . Analisis kualitatif mendedahkan keengganan pelajar untuk mengambil bahagian dalam wacana akademik disebabkan oleh amalan pertuturan akademik yang tidak mencukupi dan perasaan malu untuk mendapatkan sokongan. Hal ini meningkatkan kebimbangan mereka dan menyekat input yang boleh difahami. Oleh hal yang demikian , pelajar telah melaksanakan strategi untuk meningkatkan kemahiran komunikasi akademik mereka.

Strategi mendengar dalam susunan kedudukan adalah strategi metakognitif, kognitif, imbuhan, afektif, berkaitan dengan ingatan dan strategi sosial. Keutamaan pelajar terhadap strategi mendengar metakognitif dan kognitif berbanding strategi sosial adalah disebabkan oleh pengalaman pembelajaran negatif mereka digabungkan dengan kecemasan komunikasi akibat, yang merencatkan interaksi sosial. Oleh itu, strategi mendengar metakognitif dan kognitif menggalakkan kemandirian dan motivasi kendiri pelajar bagi meningkatkan kefahaman mendengar melalui pendengaran berulang dengan mengurangkan kecemasan, menyokong penyimpanan dan mendapatkan semula maklumat antara ingatan jangka pendek dan jangka panjang. Strategi pertuturan dalam susunan kedudukanadalah strategi yang berkaitan dengan ingatan, metakognitif, afektif, imbuhan, kognitif, dan strategi sosial. Keputusan kualitatif mendedahkan bahawa pelajar Libya lebih memilih hafalan dan amalan kendiri berbanding strategi sosial. Keengganan mereka untuk menggunakan strategi pertuturan sosial adalah kerana pengalaman pembelajaran sedia ada yang tidak mencukupi mengakibatkan kecekapan komunikatif yang lemah sehingga menyumbang kepada kecemasan bahasa komunikasi. Hafalan memudahkan pemodelan bahasa mental pelajar dan membolehkan penghayatan persekitaran komunikatif mereka.

Analisis kuantitatif mendedahkan pengalaman pembelajaran pelajar Libya terdahulu dan kecemasan bahasa komunikasi berkait rapat dengan cabaran dan strategi mendengar serta bertutur mereka. Lanjutan daripada itu didapati bahawa pengalaman pembelajaran terdahulu dan kecemasan bahasa komunikasi mempunyai kesan pengantara terhadap cabaran dan strategi mendengar serta bertutur.

Oleh itu, pihak berkepentingan harus mempertimbang cabaran komunikasi akademik pelajar Libya akibat daripada pengalaman pembelajaran bahasa Inggeris terdahulu yang tidak mencukupi dan menjejaskan kejayaan pembelajaran mereka dalam pendidikan tinggi antarabangsa. Ia dapat dipertimbang menerusi pembangunan dan penambahbaikan amalan bahasa Inggeris berdasarkan bahan dan sumber pendidikan yang dapat meningkatkan kejayaan akademik pelajar dalam bahasa Inggeris. Selain itu, program pra-sesi bahasa Inggeris di universiti Malaysia harus diselaraskan dengan bidang pengajian pelajar yang menekankan terminologi akademik dalam meningkatkan wacana akademik komunikatif mereka. Komponen teori utama dalam penyelidikan ini

ialah Teori Kognitif Piaget (1936) dan Hipotesis Tapisan Afektif yang menekankan kepentingan teori komunikasi dalam memahami kemahiran komunikasi akademik antarabangsa daripada konteks EFL dengan mengkaji faktor psikologi yang mempengaruhi penglibatan pelajar dan kecekapan komunikatif kognitif yang membolehkan pelajar antarabangsa berkomunikasi dan mengambil bahagian secara kritis sepadan dengan perkembangan pembelajaran mereka.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

By the name of Allah and thank Allah for the Lord of the worlds. All praise and gratitude to Allah, who has given me the conciliate, inspiration, guidance, blessing, strength and patience to finish my study and this thesis. And Salawat and Salam to the prophet Muhammad Peace and Blessing upon him who has brought Islam as the Rahmatan Lil Alamein.

I would especially have deepest thanks go to my beloved family; my father, my mother, my sisters (Massouda, Rabia, Ibtisam and Mona) and my brothers (Mohammed, Noordin, Faiez, Naji and Abdulmuhsen) for their endless love, encouragement, moral and financial support, and thank you for being with me and believing in me.

A special thanks to my sister Dr. Ibtisam Halaly for her endless love, encouragement, and moral and financial support, and thank you and my brother Naji for being with me and believing in me. A special thanks to my brother Mohammed for his encouragement and moral and financial support, and thank you for being with me and believing in me.

All the time like to thank my supervisor and sincere appreciation to Dr. Lilliati Ismail, for taking the time to encourage, support, and give me suggestions that helped me finalize this study. One simply could not wish for a more kindhearted supervisor. I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to Prof. Arshad Abd Samad, Dr. Abu Bakar Mohamed Razali and Dr. Nooreen Noordin my dear committee members for taking the time to encourage, support, and give me suggestions that helped me finalize this study. And sharing your knowledge and experience by providing methodological and practical guidance in this thesis.

May Allah bless you. Sincere appreciation to Prof. Bahaman Abu Samah and Associate Prof. Dr. Mikail Ibrahim, who deserve special gratitude for helping me through your guidance, patience and comments to comprehend the statistical analysis procedures needed for my study

Finally, thank you to everyone who has in a way contributed to the success of this journey directly or indirectly. May Allah bless all of you with great health, wellness, and success. May Allah bless you.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Lilliati binti Ismail, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Arshad bin Abd Samad, PhD

Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Abu Bakar bin Mohamed Razali, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

Nooreen binti Noordin, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 8 December 2022

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Lilliati binti Ismail
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	Professor
Committee:	Dr. Arshad bin Abd Samad
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	Associate Professor
Committee:	Dr. Abu Bakar bin Mohamed Razali
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	Associate Professor
Committee:	Dr. Nooreen binti Noordin

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
ABSTRA ABSTRA ACKNO APPROV DECLAI LIST OF	K WLEDO VAL RATION		i iii vi vii ix xvi
LIST OF			xix
LIST OF			XX.
LIST OF	-		xxi
LIST OF	ABBRI	EVIATIONS	xxii
CHAPT	FD		
CHAIT	LIX		
1	INTE	RODUCTION	1
_	1.1	Background of the Study	1
	1.2	Problem Statement	5
	1.3	Objectives of the Study	8
	1.4	Research Questions	9
	1.5	Research Hypotheses	10
	1.6	Significance of the Study	11
		1.6.1 Significance for Libyan International Students	12
		1.6.2 Significance for the Libyan Ministry of Education	12
		1.6.3 Significance for Malaysian Higher Education Institutions	13
	1.7	Scope of the Study	13
	1.8	Definitions of Terms	13
		1.8.1 Constructive Definitions	14
	1.9	1.8.2 Operational Definitions	15 17
	1.9	Chapter Summary	1 /
2	LITE	ERATURE REVIEW	18
	2.1	Introduction	18
	2.2	Communicative Competence	18
	2.3	Studies on Factors Affecting Academic Competencies of	
		International Students	19
		2.3.1 Prior Learning Experience	20
		2.3.2 Communication Language Anxiety	21
	2.4	Libyan International Students in Malaysian Universities	23
	2.5	Communication Language Challenges Among	
		International Students	24
		2.5.1 Challenges in Academic Listening	26
		2.5.2 Challenges in Academic Speaking	27
	2.6	Studies on Language Learning Strategies	29
		2.6.1 Academic Listening Strategies	32

			2.6.1.1	Direct Academic Listening Strategies	
			2.6.1.2	Indirect Academic Listening Strategies	37
		2.6.2	A andomi	c Speaking Strategies	39
		2.0.2	2.6.2.1		
			2.6.2.1	Indirect Academic Speaking Strategies Speaking Strategies Indirect Academic Speaking	
			2.0.2.2	1 5	43
	2.7	The Th	eoretical F	Strategies	46
	2.7	2.7.1	Cognitiv		47
		2.7.1		e Filter Hypothesis	48
	2.8			e Filter Hypothesis Lesearch Framework	50
	2.9		r Summary		51
	2.9	Спарис	Summary		51
3	MET	HODOL	OGY		52
	3.1	Introdu	ction		52
	3.2		search Des	sign	52
	3.3		tion and Sa		54
		3.3.1		g Technique	55
		3.3.2	Sample S		56
		3.3.3		approval and Ethical Considerations	57
	3.4	Researc	ch Reliabil		58
		3.4.1		tive Instrument Reliability	58
			3.4.1.1	Internal Reliability	58
			3.4.1.2	Construct Reliability	59
		3.4.2	Qualitati	ve Triangulation Procedures	59
	3.5	Researc	ch Validity		60
		3.5.1		nt Validity	60
			3.5.1.1	Face Validity	60
			3.5.1.2	Internal Validity	61
			3.5.1.3	Construct Validity	62
		3.5.2	Qualitati	ve Research Validity	62
	3.6	Pilot St	udy		63
	3.7	Actual	Data Colle	ection	65
		3.7.1	Quantita	tive Data Collection	65
			3.7.1.1	Questionnaire Description	66
			3.7.1.2	Questionnaire Distribution	67
			3.7.1.3	Questionnaire Respondent Rates	67
			3.7.1.4	The Demographic Information	67
		3.7.2	Qualitati	ve Data Collection	68
			3.7.2.1	Research Informants	69
			3.7.2.2	Semi-Structured Interviews	70
			3.7.2.3	Focus Group Discussions	71
			3.7.2.4	Field Notes	72
			3.7.2.5	Member Checks	72
	3.8	Data A	nalysis		73
		3.8.1		tive Data Analysis Procedures	73
			3.8.1.1	Exploratory Data Analysis (EDA)	74
			3.8.1.2	Outliers	74
			3.8.1.3	Normality Testing	75
		3.8.2	Structura	l Equation Modelling (SEM)	75

			3.8.2.1 3.8.2.2	Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) Measurement Models	77 77
			3.8.2.3	Bootstrapping	79
		3.8.3		ve Data Analysis Procedures	79
	3.9	Chapte	r Summary		80
4			ND DISCU	SSION	82
	4.1	Introdu			82
	4.2			unication Challenges	82
		4.2.1		c Listening Challenges	83
			4.2.1.1	Accents	86
			4.2.1.2	Lack of Familiarity with and Understanding of Academic Content	87
			4.2.1.3	Cultural Differences	88
		4.2.2		c Speaking Challenges	89
			4.2.2.1	Lack of English Language	0,
				Proficiency Emigrange	92
			4.2.2.2	Lack of Content Knowledge in the	
				Discipline/Field of Study	93
			4.2.2.3	Lack of Confidence in Oral	
				Communication	94
	4.3	Acade	nic Commu	unication Strategies	96
		4.3.1	Academi	c Listening Strategies	97
			4.3.1.1	Cognitive Listening Strategies	98
			4.3.1.2	Metacognitive Listening Strategies	101
			4.3.1.3	Memory-Related Listening Strategies	103
			4.3.1.4	Compensatory Listening Strategies	106
			4.3.1.5	Affective Listening Strategies	108
			4.3.1.6	Social Listening Strategies	111
		4.3.2		c Speaking Strategies	113
			4.3.2.1	Cognitive Speaking Strategies	115
			4.3.2.2	Metacognitive Speaking Strategies	118
			4.3.2.3	Memory-Related Speaking Strategies	121
			4.3.2.4	Compensatory Speaking Strategies	124
			4.3.2.5	Affective Speaking Strategies	126
			4.3.2.6	Social Speaking Strategies	128
	4.4		Effects of	\mathcal{E} 1	
				Language Anxiety on Communication	121
			nges and St	ε	131
		4.4.1 4.4.2		rning Experience	132 134
	4.5			ication Language Anxiety n Modelling	134
	4.3	4.5.1		n Moderning Pata Normality Tests	138
		4.5.2		nent Model Results	139
		7.5.2	4.5.2.1	Academic Listening Challenges	139
			4.5.2.1	Academic Listening Chanenges Academic Listening Strategies	140
			4.5.2.3	Academic Enstelling Strategies Academic Speaking Challenges	140
			4.5.2.4	Speaking Strategies	142
			4.5.2.5	Prior Learning Experience	143
			4.5.2.6	Communication Language Anxiety	144

	4.5.3	Academic Listening Measurement Model	145
		4.5.3.1 Model Fit	145
		4.5.3.2 Normality	146
		4.5.3.3 Outliers	147
		4.5.3.4 Discriminant Validity	147
		4.5.3.5 Multicollinearity	148
	4.5.4	Academic Speaking Measurement Model	148
	4.5.4	4.5.4.1 Model Fit	148
		4.5.4.2 Normality	149
		4.5.4.3 Outliers	150
		4.5.4.4 Discriminant Validity	150
		4.5.4.5 Multicollinearity	150
	4.5.5	The Correlation of Prior Learning Experience and	
		Communication Language Anxiety with	
		Academic Listening Challenges and Strategies	151
	4.5.6	Academic Listening Structural Model Hypothesis	
		Testing	152
		4.5.6.1 Prior Learning Experience	154
		4.5.6.2 Communication Language Anxiety	155
	4.5.7	The Correlations between Prior Learning	100
	1.5.7	Experience and Communication Language	
		Anxiety, Academic Speaking Challenges and	
			155
	150	Strategies Anadomic Strategies Structural Model Harrothesis	133
	4.5.8	Academic Speaking Structural Model Hypothesis	156
		Testing	156
		4.5.8.1 Prior Learning Experience	158
		4.5.8.2 Communication Language Anxiety	159
4.6		Iediation Effects of Prior Learning Experience and	
		nunication Language Anxiety on Communication	
		nges and Strategies	159
	4.6.1	The Mediation Effects on academic Listening	160
	4.6.2	The Mediation Effects on Academic Speaking	162
4.7	Discus	ssion	164
	4.7.1	Academic Communication Challenges	164
		4.7.1.1 Academic Listening Challenges	165
		4.7.1.2 Academic Speaking Challenges	167
	4.7.2	Academic Communication Strategies	168
	1.7.2	4.7.2.1 Academic Listening Strategies	169
		4.7.2.2 Academic Speaking Strategies	172
	111	1 & &	
	4.1.1	Prior Learning Experience	175
4.0	4.7.3	Communication Language Anxiety	177
4.8	Chapte	er Summary	178
CON	CLUSIC	ON, IMPLICATIONS, AND	
		NDATIONS	179
5.1	Introdu	uction	179
5.2		iew of the Study	179
5.3	Conclu		180
5.4		ations and Recommendations	185
	5.4.1	Pedagogical Implications and Recommendations	185
		5-6 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

5

	5.4.2 Theoretical Implications and Recommendations	188
5.5	Limitations	189
5.6	Chapter Summary	190
REFEREN	CES	191
APPENDIO	CES	214
BIODATA	OF STUDENT	240
LIST OF P	UBLICATIONS	241



LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	International student enrolment in Malaysia (2017)	23
2.2	Communication language learning strategies	30
3.1	The population of the research	55
3.2	Cronbach's alpha questionnaire reliability results	58
3.3	Cronbach's alpha reliability result acceptability	59
3.4	Questionnaire survey internal validity	61
3.5	Pilot study questionnaire cronbach's alpha reliability	64
3.6	Survey questionnaire distribution and respondent rates	67
3.7	The demographic information of the participants	68
3.8	Interviews and focus group discussion informants	70
3.9	Data transformation categories	73
3.10	Guilford's rule of thumb criteria	76
3.11	The decision criteria for the mediation test using the bootstrap method	76
3.12	The criteria for the goodness of fit measures	78
3.13	The data analysis summary based on research objectives	81
4.1	The overall academic listening and speaking challenges results	82
4.2	The categories of academic listening challenges	83
4.3	The descriptive statistics of academic listening challenges	85
4.4	The categories of academic speaking challenges	90
4.5	The descriptive statistics of speaking challenges	91
4.6	The academic language communication strategies	96
4.7	The categories of academic listening strategy use	97

4.8	The descriptive statistics of academic listening strategies	97
4.9	The descriptive statistics for cognitive listening strategies	99
4.10	The descriptive statistics for metacognitive listening strategies	102
4.11	The descriptive statistics for memory-related listening strategies	104
4.12	The descriptive statistics for compensatory listening strategies	107
4.13	The descriptive statistics for affective listening strategies	109
4.14	The descriptive statistics for social listening strategies	112
4.15	The categories of academic speaking strategies	114
4.16	The descriptive statistics for academic speaking strategies	114
4.17	The descriptive statistics for cognitive speaking strategies	116
4.18	The descriptive statistics for metacognitive speaking strategies	119
4.19	The descriptive statistics for memory-related speaking strategies	122
4.20	The descriptive statistics for compensatory speaking strategies	125
4.21	The descriptive statistics for affective speaking strategies	127
4.22	The descriptive statistics for social speaking strategies	129
4.23	The categories and descriptive statistics for prior learning experience	132
4.24	The descriptive statistics for prior learning experience	133
4.25	The categories and descriptive statistics for communication language anxiety	135
4.26	The descriptive statistics for communication language anxiety	136
4.27	The data distribution normality results by construct	139
4.28	The factor loadings, average variance extracted (AVE) and construct reliability (CR) of academic listening challenges (ALC)	140
4.29	The factor loadings, average variance extracted (AVE) and construct reliability (CR) of <i>academic listening</i> strategies (ALS)	141
4.30	The factor loading, average variance extracted (AVE) and construct reliability (CR) of academic speaking challenges (ASC)	147

4.31	reliability (CR) of academic speaking strategies (ASS)	143
4.32	The factor loadings, average variance extracted (AVE) and construct reliability (CR) of prior learning experience (PLE)	144
4.33	The factor loadings, average variance extracted, and construct reliability (CR) of communication language anxiety (CLA)	145
4.34	The construct reliability (CR), average variance extracted (AVE) (on the diagonal) and squared correlation coefficients r2 (on the off-diagonal) for academic listening model	147
4.35	The multicollinearity correlation matrix for academic listening	148
4.36	The construct reliability(CR), average variance extracted (AVE) (on the diagonal) and squared correlation coefficients r2 (on the off-diagonal) for academic speaking model	150
4.37	The multicollinearity correlation matrix for academic speaking model	151
4.38	The correlation matrix for academic listening model	151
4.39	The effects of communication language anxiety and learning experience on academic listening challenges and strategies	154
4.40	The correlation matrix for academic speaking model	156
4.41	The effects of communication language anxiety and prior learning experience on academic speaking challenges and strategies	158
4.42	The mediation effects of communication language anxiety and prior learning experience the effect on listening challenges on listening strategies	161
4.43	The mediation effects of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety on academic speaking challenges and speaking	163

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1	The Theoretical Framework	46
2.2	The Conceptual Research Framework	50
3.1	Explanatory Sequential Mixed Methods Design (Two-Phase Design)	53
4.1	CFA Model for Academic Listening Challenges	139
4.2	The Model for Academic Listening Strategies	141
4.3	The CFA Model for Speaking Challenges	142
4.4	The CFA Model for Speaking Strategies	143
4.5	The CFA Model for Prior Learning Experience	144
4.6	The CFA Model for Communication Language Anxiety	145
4.7	The Overall Measurement Model for Academic Listening	146
4.8	The Overall Measurement Model for Academic Speaking	149
4.9	The Academic Listening Structural Model	153
4.10	The Academic Speaking Structural Model	157
4.11	The Academic Listening Mediation Model	160
4.12	The Academic Speaking Mediation Model	162

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix		
A	Total Number of Libyan students in Malaysian Universities	214
В	Number of Libyan Students in the Five Public Malaysian Universities	215
C	Number of Self-Sponsored Libyan Students in The Five Public Malaysian Universities	216
D	Permission from Libyan Embassy, Malaysia	217
E	Permission from University Putra Malaysia (UPM)	218
F	Permission from Sekolah Pengajian Siswazah\ University Putra Malaysia (UPM)	219
G	Permission from University Kebangsaan Malalysia(UKM)	220
Н	Permission from University Putra Malaysia to Carry out Research	221
I	Permission from University Science Malaysia (USM)	222
J	Permission for Using a Questionnaire	223
K	The Approval from Ethics Committee for Research Involving Human Subjects (JKEUPM) at University Putra Malaysia	225
L	Consent Letter for the Interviews and focus group discussion	226
M	Member Check	227
N	Informant Member Check Sample	228
0	Informant Field Note Sample	229
P	The Questionnaire for Quantitative Phase	230
Q	The Interview Protocol Questions for Quantitative Phase	239

LIST OF EQUATIONS

Equation		Page
3.1	Cochran's Sampling formula	56
3.2	Construct Reliability (CR)	59
3.3	Average Variance Extracted (AVE)	62



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ESL English as a Second Language

EFL English as a Foreign Language

CS Communication Skills

ALC Academic Listening Challenges

ALS Academic Listening Strategies

ASC Academic Speaking Challenges

ASS Academic Speaking Strategies

CLA Communication Language Anxiety

PLE Prior Learning Experience

AMOS Analysis of a Moment Structure

SEM Structural Equation Modelling

MLR Multiple Liner Regression

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Having a good command of academic English communicative competence in general and academic discourse for individuals is essential to achieving academic success (Mulualem et al., 2022). This academic communicative competence consists of academic listening (AL) and academic speaking (AS), listening, comprehending and speaking and interacting academically, which are essential for learners to express, share, and participate in international academic educational settings. However, international students from EFL backgrounds would find it challenging to achieve this competence in ESL classroom settings at a university while participating in oral classroom activities such as academic engagement, discussions and oral presentations. Thus, some countries found it essential to improve the English language in their educational settings. For example, Libyan attitudes and educational policy toward the role and the importance of improving English language teaching and learning have recently become more supportive, especially in educational contexts. Nevertheless, despite the changes in perceptions and policy, there have been continued challenges to improving academic English listening and speaking skills posed by the lack of opportunities for learners to practice the language in natural situations.

In response to these limitations, Libyan educational policy began prioritising English language learning in schools so that it would be taught in all schools by 2019. English is thus included in all levels of education, beginning with kindergarten and Primary One (six-year-olds) and continuing to higher education (19-year-olds). This contrasts with previous policies that started English language learning among 12-year-old pupils. It is also important to note that Libyan students are primarily EFL learners with Arabic as the medium of instruction (Omar, 2016; Owen et al., 2019a).

As a result of the new policy, Libyan students would be sponsored by Libyan government grants to pursue higher education at any of the world's 300 top-ranked universities (Abduljalil, 2018). Thus, the Libyan Ministry of Education approved Malaysian higher education institutions as destinations for Libyan students to continue their education under Libyan government grants. The officially approved institutions in Malaysia among the selected universities are Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM), Universiti Malaya (UM), University Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM), Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM), and Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM).

Therefore, it is essential to have a clear and in-depth understanding of the role of the English language in the Libyan education system, which would influence Libyan students who aim to further their studies abroad. Therefore, considering the Libyan present English language learning experience, studying overseas would expose the students to serious issues related to their academic English listening and speaking

performance (Aldoukalee, 2013; Diaab, 2016; Owen et al., 2019b). Their ability to comprehend and communicate effectively while studying abroad in an international setting might not be easy due to their prior lack of English learning experience and their low levels of communicative competence.

For instance, many Libyan international students have chosen Malaysia as their preferred destination for higher educational pursuits. This is corroborated by Said and Yassin (2014), who reported that Malaysia has been "one of the top destinations for Libyan students to further their education in both undergraduate and graduate studies" (p. 1). This interest on the part of Libyan students and their corresponding increase in numbers in Malaysia over recent years may be explained in large part by incentives resulting from changes in the Libyan government's overseas higher education policy, where Libyan students are encouraged to study abroad in the selected universities (Abduljalil, 2018).

Malaysian higher education's reputation regarding the use of English is more specifically known for its strengths in English academic listening and speaking components and the use of the language as a medium of instruction. Malaysian higher education's reputation regarding the use of English is more specifically known for its strengths in English academic listening and speaking components and the use of the language as a medium of instruction. The Malaysian ESL academic setting supports learners in improving their communicative competence to use the English language correctly and appropriately for effective communication with others in educational settings. Moreover, as English is the medium of instruction in Malaysian higher education, learners are expected to have rich and comprehensive communicative competence reflecting on their academic listening (AL) and speaking (AS) to present higher-order thinking and critical thinking skills in their academic engagement, performance, and participation. Thus, Malaysian higher education has established a high English language standard requirement that international students must fulfil rigorous English language requirements specified by the Malaysian institutions of higher learning..

However, stringent English language requirements have presented difficulties for Libyan international students studying abroad. The challenges faced by Libyan international students stem from the educational policies in effect during their prior education in Libya that determined their English language use and practice, specifically in relation to students' academic listening (AL) and academic speaking (AS) experience (Aldoukalee, 2013; Owen et al., 2019b; Youssef & Bose, 2015). Additionally, despite, the is great intention for enhancing AL and AS globally as reported by (Doiz, and Lasagabaster, 2022; Sung, 2022), EFL teachers' still facing limited resources and lack of actual listening and speaking practice in the L2 lead to hinder English language improvement for the EFL students which lead to raise students' academic listening and speaking challenge.

Therefore, English academic language proficiency deficiencies may prevent students from fully comprehending and participating in English academic discourse. As academic language is challenging to acquire through short-term training (O' Malley & Chamot,

1990; Oxford, 1990) thus, Libyan international students may need to rely on strategies to aid them in overcoming their academic language challenges.

A review of related literature indicates that international students use strategies to compensate for the communication challenges discussed above and improve related skills. As these strategies may be essential to the success of students in international study programmes, it is essential that the strategies need to be investigated to describe them and determine their various types and associated factors.

For example, academic listening and speaking have features that differ from general listening and speaking that are aligned with cognitive and metacognitive strategies such as clarification/verification, monitoring, memorisation, guessing/inductive inferencing, guessing/deductive reasoning, and practice (O' Malley & Chamot, 1990; Oxford, 1989; Rubin, 1981).

Furthermore, in addition to factors that have been found important in academic listening and speaking challenges and strategies implemented by the international students, research should be conducted to examine the effects of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety associated with adult language learners' processing experiences and abilities (Griffiths, 2004; O' Malley & Chamot, 1990).

It is, therefore, would be important to determine the Libyan students' specific academic communication challenges in relation to academic listening challenges (ALCs) and academic speaking challenges (ASCs) as well as determine the students' communicative experience, particularly regarding their implementation of academic listening strategies (ALSs) and academic speaking strategies (ASSs) to overcome their communication challenges. Furthermore, to determine how these processes are associated with factors such as prior learning experience and communication language anxiety.

The communication challenges faced by international students vary by country and region depending on differences in their educational systems, languages used in academia, cultures, and the primary language used in comparison with those of the students' home countries (Fu et al., 2018; Tham & Kam, 2008). As the academic language in the context of this study primarily concerns listening and speaking, international students' primary challenges would involve activities requiring them to express themselves through sharing information and discussing academic topics with colleagues of various backgrounds (Abdullah & Mahfoodh, 2019; Shafaei & Abd-Razak, 2016; Zainuddin et al., 2019). This is particularly true for international students from EFL backgrounds with a lack of prior practice in their own countries or experience studying in academic settings involving the targeted medium of instruction.

Moreover, several factors make English as a second language (ESL) usage in educational settings academically challenging to international students transitioning from EFL to ESL contexts. These factors include lack of English language practice, psychological factors, differences in academic levels, and cultural differences (Kulwattanapaisarn et

al., 2022; Quintos, 2022; Shafaei & Abd-Razak, 2016). Therefore, prior English language practice has a fundamental aspect that need to be investigated further. The role of prior learning experience would be very crucial in any research ear on learners language learning which have been report influencing the research results and interpretation as Dochy (1988), found that prior learning experience could explain 30–60% of the variance in research results. Apart form that as AL and AS are very will known as anxiety as anxiety-provoking. Thus these two factors would have an important cause and effect contribution on international student ASC and ASS for listening as well as for speaking

For example, a mixed-method study by (Abdullah & Mahfoodh, 2019) on international university students studying in Malaysia found that students from EFL backgrounds experienced major academic communication problems regarding their speech accuracy due to their lack of prior English language practice and exposure.

Similarly, another mixed-method study by Fu et al. (2018), supports the effects of several factors on the academic performance of Chinese international students in the US. The factors included learning preferences, anxiety, motivation, and variation in the academic major. The study further found that students responded to these factors with direct and indirect strategies to overcome them, such as memory-related, cognitive, compensatory, metacognitive, affective, and social strategies.

In their attempts to overcome their academic language challenges, international students adopt strategies meant to improve their abilities in skills such as academic listening (AL) and academic speaking (AS) lowering their anxiety, improving their prior lack of communicative competence (Singh, 2019). Such learning strategies can therefore be "extremely powerful learning tool[s]" (O'Malley et al., 1985, p.37), and it is thus crucial to examine them and understand how they are implemented. Prior research has agreed with implementing various strategies related to language skills by international students at several institutions (Bamford, 2008; Singh, 2014, 2019). However, there is still a dearth of information on listening and speaking strategies and their implications (Fu et al., 2018; Park et al., 2017).

Malaysia has become a significantly important provider of educational programmes for international students. Concerning their Vision 2020 achievements, the Institute of International Education reported that enrolment of new international students in Malaysia was expected to be 200,000 soon. Therefore, international students have become a topic of interest in many studies from various perspectives in the Malaysian context (Aljaberi et al., 2018; Singh, 2019; Yusoff, 2012). For example, while Yusoff's (2012) study focused on the self-efficacy, perceived social support, and psychological adjustment of international undergraduate students, Singh's (2019) research explored the academic English language challenges of EFL international students.

In line with the above trend, this study identifies challenges to ALC and ASC performance faced by Libyan international students of various academic levels studying in Malaysian universities and investigates these students' potential academic listening and speaking strategies in relation to their prior learning experience and communication language anxiety. The results may inform Libyan international students regarding the

potential communication challenges they could encounter and methods of overcoming them and support Malaysian universities in facilitating efforts to aid the students' in overcoming their communication challenges. The study findings may also be of value to the Libyan Ministry of Education in taking cognisance of Libyan international students' unique communication challenges resulting from weaknesses in their English language education within the Libyan educational system.

1.2 Problem Statement

While studying in the new cultural environments of foreign academic institutions, international students are confronted with various obstacles and challenges that affect their abilities to communicate with people of other nationalities (Kim, 2006; Mulualem et al., 2022b; Nguyet & Robertson, 2022; Yusoff, 2012). Aside from the demands of academic communication and engagement in academic settings, undergraduate and postgraduate students are expected to exhibit higher-level reasoning and critical thinking skills in their interactions with others.

Regarding the expectations mentioned above, Libyan international students' English communication in academic settings is challenging as their prior experience with English was confined to EFL programmes in school classroom settings where the traditional grammar-translation teaching method was employed (Diaab, 2016; Omar, 2016; Owen et al., 2019a).

Thus, the change in language usage from their home country to the host country is extreme, and little would have prepared them in Libya for such challenges in their overseas educational experience. Their difficulties often stem from their lack of practical experience in academic English language listening and speaking in their previous educational programmes. Thus, the transition to communication with people of other nationalities in academic settings leads to severe academic listening challenges (ALCs) and academic speaking challenges (ASCs) (Aldoukalee, 2013; Diaab, 2016).

Although the number of Libyan students studying overseas has reached as high as 1,453 as stated by Said and Yassin (2014), and Malaysia has been reported as the top destination for their pursuit of higher education (Said & Yassin, 2014). However, a review of related literature supports that no previous research focuses on this population. Furthermore, despite the Libyan Ministry of Education's support of international education opportunities to study at the world's top 300 universities, there has been no reported consideration paid to the preparation of these students prior to their enrolment in Malaysian universities, where the medium of instruction is English (Abduljalil, 2018; Said & Yassin, 2012). Therefore, it would benefit from investigating these problematic issues from various perspectives and exploring how students employ coping strategies to deal with their challenges by conducting in-depth, reliable, descriptive research among Libyan international students enrolled in overseas universities.

The challenges discussed above may result from the students' prior learning experience with the teaching methods, teachers' and students' personality traits, and teaching and learning resources of the Libyan educational system. For example, the grammar-translation method used in traditional Libyan English language teaching and learning relies on translation and memorisation. Thus, Libyan learners are marginalised to the fringes of English language ability due to their lack of realistic practical experience in language use (Alhodiry, 2016; Owen et al., 2019b).

Therefore, the main challenge of these students would be transitioning from the traditional grammar-translation teaching methods and assessment of their prior education to the rigorous systems of overseas universities that rely on highly developed, well-documented methods of teaching and assessment to develop cognitive and metacognitive skills, which in turn rely on higher-order thinking skills (Deuchar, 2022; Horwitz et al., 1986; Liu, 2014; Pourfarhad et al., 2012;).

Thus, the overseas educational context requires more emphasis on the enhancement of abilities needed to participate in academic discourse and discussion. This implies that the students need to enhance academic listening and speaking competence to improve their cognitive and metacognitive skills needed to facilitate their overseas educational experience.

Furthermore, communication skill in academic listening and speaking is well known as anxiety-provoking. Thus, language anxiety cannot be ignored as an essential factor in communication skill development (Young, 1992; Horwitz et al., 1986). Many researchers in the field of communication language anxiety have reported that academic listening and speaking are particularly associated with learner anxiety that impedes the ability to effectively communicate in a foreign language, leading to stressful learning situations (Horwitz et al., 1986; MacIntyre & Gardner, 1994; Elaldi, 2016). Researchers have reported various types of anxiety as affecting international students in new living and educational settings (Brisset et al., 2010; Shafaei & Abd-Razak, 2016). In this regard, communicative language anxiety has been found important in several studies focusing on international students (Lee, 2016; Singh, 2019; Yılmaz & Temizkan, 2022).

In addition, prior learning experience has been found to be a process factor that enhances the internal factors such as interest in language learning, which motivates the improvement of language learning in the face of challenges resulting from low self-esteem and a lack of self-confidence (Kulwattanapaisarn et al., 2022; Quintos, 2022; Trigwell et al., 2013). Therefore, the prior learning experience has an essential role in facilitating or impeding new learning and can enable new stages of learning through the activation of good prior knowledge.

There is also a lack of previous research on the relations academic listening and speaking challenges have with academic listening and speaking strategies and the roles played by prior learning experience and communication language anxiety in international students' learning experience, all of which greatly influence the learning processes related to language use. Furthermore, because of this absence of research, the Libyan Ministry of

Higher Education has found no practical solutions to the commonly encountered obstacles experienced by students in their overseas educational pursuits.

Libyan international students may also encounter challenging problems arising from differences in the languages used in instruction. In Libya, the medium of instruction is Arabic, whereas English is used in Malaysian universities. The concerns arising from this change in the language of instruction should therefore be considered.

The Libyan government has long recognised international education as a way to gain new knowledge, explore scientific development, and gain other achievements through higher education in world-class institutions. The government strongly believes in human capital. Therefore, despite the obstacles and challenges that Libyan students may face as a result of the differences that exist between the Libyan educational system and overseas institutions, such as language concerns, the government views overseas education as an opportunity to improve Libyan education and believes that better education is the right of every Libyan citizen.

Therefore, it is necessary that Libyan international students adapt to the ESL academic context and gain practice through natural exposure to the English language through the use of various learning strategies, such as the cognitive and metacognitive strategies proposed by Oxford (1990). Cognitive strategies enhance and improve communication skills and involve practising and repeated use of patterns and recombining them by forming meaningful sentences in academic speech.

The sound system of the target language must be practiced in natural settings as well as sending and receiving messages or speaking with the support of equivalent resources, and the skills of quickly acquiring and understanding ideas, note-taking, summarisation, and reasoning need to be developed. Metacognitive strategies are for enhancing communication skills and involve centring a learner's own learning, paying attention, and delaying speech production while focusing on academic listening, organising, planning language tasks, self-monitoring, seeking opportunities for practice, and self-evaluation of learning (Lan & Oxford, 2003; Rubin, 1975, 1981).

The implementation of these strategies would enable learners to improve their abilities to reason and engage in critical thinking, which are required for communication in international academic settings while communicating with others, particularly in academic discussions. Thus, the students need to address issues such as how to cope with ALC and ASC challenges and decide which strategies to apply and whether they are valid based on their own individual perspectives.

The literature review for this study showed that considerable attention from various perspectives has to be paid to the challenges experienced by international students around the globe and their strategies to overcome them (Abdullah & Mahfoodh, 2019; Singh, 2019; Shafaei & Abd-Razak, 2016).

The findings of this study could contribute to the existing body of research in related fields on how international students such as this study's Libyan participants overcome academic English communication challenges by adopting strategies to facilitate their learning and overcome their academic communication challenges. The focus of this study is on issues related to the language learning strategies of the participating students and the resultant findings help to establish the significance of these aspects of academic language learning.

For instance, previous studies supported the conclusion that using such learning strategies in short-term educational experiences can result in long-term effects on students' personal, professional, and academic lives (Splan et al., 2017). Furthermore, it is the view of this researcher that the examination of language learning strategies could implicitly improve the quality and depth of cognitive processing achieved by students through reflection on the implementation of the strategies during short-term overseas educational programmes Splan et al. (2017).

The contributions of this study along with previous research on other international students studying in Malaysia and elsewhere, could represent the foundations of research involving cross-analyses investigating the relations among identified language learning challenges to explain how academic speaking and listening learning strategies are formulated. More specifically, few studies have been conducted on Libyan international students' academic language performance issues, in general. Moreover, this study's large-scale, mixed-method research design involving a questionnaire survey, interviews, and focus group discussion produced in-depth findings. Therefore, this study's focus on Libyan students studying in Malaysian universities was needed to provide findings specific to that population. This deliberate limitation to the scope of the study is discussed further in the following section.

Therefore, this study's in-depth explanatory analysis contributes to the body of knowledge by identifying the academic communication (e.g., AL and AS) challenges experienced by Libyan international students enrolled in Malaysian universities, and the strategies (e.g., ALS and ASS) used to overcome them. Furthermore, the study examined the roles of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety in relation to Libyan international students' communication challenges and strategies.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

The overall objective of this study was to determine the academic communication challenges of participating Libyan international students and the strategies they adopted to overcome them with a focus on the factors that influenced their academic listening and speaking strategies. More specifically, the objectives of the research were as follows:

1. Identify the EFL academic communication challenges experienced by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.

- Examine and explore the EFL academic listening challenges experienced by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
- Examine and explore the EFL academic speaking challenges experienced by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
- 2. Identify the EFL academic communication language strategies implemented by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
 - Examine and explore the academic listening strategies implemented by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
 - b) Examine and explore the academic speaking strategies implemented by Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
- 3. Determine the roles of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety in relation to the academic listening and speaking challenges and strategies of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
- 4. Test for mediation effects of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety on the academic language challenges and strategies of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
 - a) Test for mediation effects of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety on the academic listening challenges and strategies of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.
 - b) Test for mediation effects of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety on the academic speaking challenges and strategies of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities.

1.4 Research Questions

This research investigated the following five research questions:

- 1. What are the academic communication challenges encountered by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?
 - a) What are the academic listening challenges encountered by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?
 - b) What are the academic speaking challenges experienced by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?
- 2. What are the academic communication language strategies implemented by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?

- a) What are the academic listening strategies implemented by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?
- b) What are the academic speaking strategies implemented by Libyan international students while studying in Malaysian universities?
- 3. What relationship do prior learning experience and communication language anxiety have with the academic listening and speaking challenges and strategies of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities?
- 4. To what extent do prior learning experience and communication language anxiety affect the academic communication challenges of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities and the strategies they employ to overcome the challenges?
 - a) To what extent do prior learning experience and communication language anxiety affect the academic listening challenges of Libyan international students studying in Malaysian universities and their strategies to overcome these challenges?
 - b) To what extent do prior learning experience and communication language anxiety affect the academic speaking challenges of Libyan international students studying in Malaysia and their strategies to overcome these challenges?

1.5 Research Hypotheses

The following twelve research hypotheses were formulated based on the review of related literature (see Chapter 2), the research questions, and the objectives of the study. Each hypothesis relates to a variable examined in this research.

Hypothesis 1 Prior learning experience significantly influences the (H1) academic listening challenges of Libyan international students. Hypothesis 2 Prior learning experience significantly influences the (H_2) academic listening strategies of Libyan international students. Hypothesis 3 Academic Listening challenges significantly influence (H_3) the communication language anxiety of Libyan international students. Hypothesis 4 (H_4) : Communication language anxiety significantly influences the academic listening strategies of Libyan international students.

Hypothesis 5	(H ₅) :	Prior learning experience significantly influences the academic speaking challenges of Libyan international students.
Hypothesis 6	(H_6) :	Prior learning experience significantly influences the academic speaking strategies of Libyan international students
Hypothesis 7	(H ₇) :	Academic speaking challenges significantly influence the communication language anxiety of Libyan international students.
Hypothesis 8	(H ₈) :	Communication language anxiety significantly influences the academic speaking strategies of Libyan international students.
Hypothesis 9	(H ₉) :	Prior learning experience has a mediation effect on the relationship between academic listening challenges and academic listening strategies.
Hypothesis 10	(H ₁₀) :	Communication language anxiety has a mediation effect on the relationship between academic listening challenges and academic listening strategies.
Hypothesis 11	(H ₁₁) :	Prior learning experience has a mediation effect on the relationship between academic speaking challenges and academic speaking strategies.
Hypothesis 12	(H ₁₂) :	Communication language anxiety has a mediation effect on the relationship between academic speaking challenges and academic speaking strategies.

1.6 Significance of the Study

This study was conducted among Libyan studying in several top Malaysian universities. The study aimed to produce findings valuable to understanding the academic listening and speaking challenges experienced by this group of students and their strategies to overcome these challenges. Considering the increasing number of Libyan students enrolled in Malaysian universities, the information accumulated through this research on the academic communication challenges of the participating Libyan students and their strategies to overcome them provides a significantly important contribution to the education field.

The findings are expected to be helpful to Libyan undergraduate and postgraduate students, the Libyan Ministry of Education, and Malaysian higher education institutions in preparing and orienting students for their programmes of study in Malaysia. The importance of the study and its benefits are presented under the four following subsections in accordance with related benefits to Libyan international students, the

Libyan Ministry of Education, Malaysian higher education institutions, and in relation to the study's contributions to the literature of related fields of study.

4.1.1 Significance for Libyan International Students

Students planning to further their educations overseas need reliable information on the universities to which they intend to apply for admission and the countries in which they are located. In order to provide comprehensive information, including expectations related to communicative competence, it is of vital importance to conduct research investigating the academic language communication performance challenges experienced by students currently studying in those locations.

Therefore, to provide Libyan international students with an understanding of the potential challenges they could encounter in pursuing their studies in Malaysian universities, the findings of this study comprise detailed information on these challenges and viable solutions that may be beneficial to improving their academic language performance. The data collected from this research and its findings may be helpful to Libyan international students as well as other international students with EFL or other similar educational backgrounds in comprehending and having prior knowledge about the potential challenges involved in pursuing their educations in foreign universities such as those in Malaysia.

Thus, future Libyan students and other international students may benefit from the availability of prior knowledge of the methods or strategies they can utilise to overcome commonly recognised academic challenges.

4.1.2 Significance for the Libyan Ministry of Education

As it is crucially important for some countries to invest in human capital by providing educational grants to their students, they must have sufficient and reliable information regarding the academic challenges the students may encounter in their overseas educational programmes. Therefore, this information would provide guidance to developers, policymakers, and academic institutions about how to assist students to plan for their overseas educations, which could include any alterations to their academic English language preparation prior to enrolment in foreign institutions.

The contribution of this research would have a great potential value to such stakeholders considering the present dearth of literature on the issues it explored. For example, suggestions from students on how to improve the overseas educational experience are lacking in the extant literature, and this information could be of value in enhancing academic language programmes for preparing students for overseas studies. Therefore, the present study's findings comprise valuable resources useful to policymakers in developing effective teaching and assessment methods to assist Libyan international students in overcoming their communication challenges.

4.1.3 Significance for Malaysian Higher Education Institutions

As Malaysia has become one of the world's top 10 destinations for Libyan international students Said and Yassin (2014) and students from other regions (Abdullah & Mahfoodh, 2019; Shafaei & Abd-Razak, 2016), it has become crucial for Malaysian institutions to have reliable information on the backgrounds and academic experience of incoming international students. Therefore, particularly in relation to Malaysian institutions' reputed emphasis on the ESL context in their instruction. Therefore, the present study would serve to facilitate the students' educational experience by reducing the level of ambiguity regarding the assessment of communication challenges and the adoption of strategies intended to strengthen their communication skills. This information would be valuable to Malaysian institutions in making educational contexts amenable to students from differing backgrounds so that they may quickly overcome academic language performance issues through systematic methods (Dafouz & Camacho-Miñano, 2016; Lee et al., 2015).

1.7 Scope of the Study

The principal aim of this study was to identify and investigate the academic English language communicative listening and speaking challenges and strategies and the mediation role of prior learning experience and communication language anxiety on these academic communication challenges and strategies in ESL academic settings among Libyan international students. The data for the research was collected from five Malaysian public universities. As the study involved participants from this specific population, the results may not be generalisable to all international students. However, other researchers have reported this limitation who have argued that studies of this nature should be conducted separately according to nations or regions due to variations in contextual factors (Abdullah & Mahfoodh, 2019; Singh, 2019; Lee et al., 2015).

The data collection for the study was conducted in two main phases of the research: the quantitative and qualitative phases. Both phases of research involved Libyan international students from bachelor's, master's, and doctoral programmes of various academic disciplines and at various levels of progress. While the questionnaire survey of the quantitative phase began with the total population of Libyan students enrolled in the selected institutions, the qualitative phase with interviews and focus group discussion involved twenty informants. The sampling methods and the number of participants for the two research phases are described in more detail in Chapters 3 and 4.

1.8 Definitions of Terms

This section provides constructive and operational definitions of the significant terms used in this thesis that are essential to the reader's understanding of concepts central to the research. The terms and their definitions are presented in the following subsections for constructive and operational Definitions:

4.1.4 Constructive Definitions

Academic Communication (AC)

Academic communication are the registers and genres of a language that are specific to the academic content of communication in formal educational contexts. The acquisition of academic language is essential to second language learner mainstreaming and to students in English for academic purposes programmes (Richards & Schmidt, 2010).

Language Learning Strategies (LLSs)

Language learning strategies are the cognitive and metacognitive steps that learners follow to enhance their academic listening and speaking skills (O' Malley & Chamot, 1990). According to Oxford (1990), these strategies are comprised of "Specific actions, behaviours, steps, or techniques that students use to improve their progress in developing skills of the new language. These strategies can facilitate the internalization, storage, retrieval, or the use of new language"(p.157).

Academic Listening Challenges (ALCs)

Academic listening challenges are the challenges that inhibit the language performance of English as a foreign language (EFL) international students studying in higher education degree programmes as a consequence of the students' lack of academic listening knowledge and practice.

Academic Listening Strategies (ALSs)

Academic listening strategies are the strategic plans for the development of listening skills relevant to engagement in academic discussions and devised to support and improve the comprehension and subsequent production of spoken input (O'Malley & Chamot, 1990; Yulisa, 2018).

Academic Speaking Challenges (ASCs)

Academic speaking challenges are the language performance challenges that impede the abilities of English as a foreign language (EFL) international students to engage in academic discussions in higher education contexts.

Academic Speaking Challenges (ASCs)

Academic speaking challenges refer to challenges that inhibit international students' comprehension and expression of academic speech in communication with interlocutors such as academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors during discussions in academic settings.

Academic Speaking Strategies (ASSs)

Speaking Strategies are strategic plans for direct or indirect situations that require learners to engage in or listen to discussions in order to develop their speaking skills to support and improve their spoken academic input (O'Malley & Chamot, 1990; Xu, 2016).

Prior Learning Experience (PLE)

Dochy (1988) explained that this is a learner's "prior knowledge state" and encompasses "the totality of domain-specific knowledge and skills available for the execution of particular learning activity" and further noted, "One can also speak of part declarative, part procedural knowledge" (p. 22)

Communicative Language Anxiety (CLA)

Horwitz et al. (1986) define this as "the subjective feeling of tension, apprehension, nervousness, and worry associated with an arousal of the autonomic nervous system" (p. 125). They further explain that this anxiety is manifested as a result of the self-perceptions, beliefs, feelings, and behaviours resulting from the unique nature of classroom language learning processes.

4.1.5 Operational Definitions

Academic Communication (AL)

AC refers to students' proficiency in academic listening and speaking and their ability to comprehend and express ideas relevant to their academic success in modes of communication appropriate to undergraduate and postgraduate academic contexts during communication with their peers, academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors in situations such as academic discussions.

Language Learning Strategies (LLSs)

language learning strategies are specific direct and indirect actions, behaviours, steps, or techniques that are utilised to improve academic listening and speaking communication skills.

Academic Listening Challenges (ALCs)

ALCs refer to all types of potential challenges that inhibit international students' comprehension of communication during academic discussions with interlocutors such as their peers, academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors.

Academic Listening Strategies (ALSs)

ALSs refer to direct and indirect strategies that are implemented to facilitate international students' comprehension of the content of academic discussions with peers, academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors.

Direct academic listening strategies comprise cognitive, memory-related, and compensatory strategies related to cognitive-linguistic processing that allows for the storage and retrieval of information expressed through language (e.g., academic English). Strategies may involve processes such as creating mental linkages, applying sounds, practicing, analysing, reasoning, and guessing. Indirect strategies comprise metacognitive, affective, and social strategies that indirectly support language learning in combination with or with the support of direct strategies. These strategies may involve processes such as centring learning, arranging, encouraging, and asking questions.

Academic Speaking Strategies (ASSs)

are the direct and indirect academic speaking strategies employed by international students to improve the expression of ideas during discussions with peers, academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors in academic settings.

Direct academic listening strategies comprise cognitive, memory-related, and compensatory strategies that involve the cognitive processing of language and include processes such as reviewing, using memory for retrieval of information, practicing naturalistically, and code-switching. Indirect strategies include metacognitive, affective, and social strategies for the indirect support of language learning with the combination and support of direct strategies. These strategies involve processes such as centring, arranging, planning, and evaluating the learning, as well as evaluating, encouraging, and tracking emotional temperature, cooperating with others, and seeking opportunities for interactions and cooperation with interlocutors in academic situations.

Prior Learning Experience (PLE)

prior learning experience is defined as comprising the English language knowledge and communication skills acquired through the teaching and learning methods experienced by international students in the EFL context of their home country (e.g., Libya).

Communicative Language Anxiety (CLA)

communicative language anxiety is manifested as learners' subjective negative feelings of tension, apprehension, nervousness, or worry resulting from the difficulties they encounter with the comprehension of English academic communication while listening to or speaking with peers, academic staff, lecturers, and supervisors in academic situations.

1.9 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented an overview of the research with the background of the study leading to the problem statement; the fundamental elements of the research design including the objectives of the study, the research questions, and research hypotheses; the implications of the study; and definitions of the essential terms used in the thesis. The contents of this chapter thus strengthen and support the research as a basic introduction to the detailed discussions and presentations of the related literature, methods, results, and findings presented in the following chapters.



REFERENCES

- Abdi, N., & Davaribina, M. (2017). Dynamics of fluency, lexical resources and language awareness: Investigating the role of pre-speaking strategies instruction. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 7(10), 912–920. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0710.13
- Abduljalil, O. (2018). *Decision of the Minister of Education No. 63 of 2018 regarding the conditions for issuing delegations to study abroad* (No. 63 of 2018). Libya, Ministry of Education Libya. Retrieved February 10, 2019, from https://moe.gov.ly/
- Abdulkareem, M. N. (2013). An investigation study of academic writing problems faced by Arab postgraduate students at Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM). *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 3(9), 1552–1557. https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.3.9.1552-1557
- Abdullah, A., & Mahfoodh, O. (2019). Academic oral communication difficulties encountered by Yemeni postgraduate students in a Malaysian university. *Issues in Educational Research*, 29(2), 301–325.
- Abdul-Razak, N., Yassin, A. A., & Moqbel, M. S. (2019). Investigating foreign language reading anxiety among Yemeni international students in Malaysian universities. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 9(4), 83–92. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijel.v9n4p83
- Abu-Samah, B. (2016). Enhancing extension education research using structural equation modelling. Serdang: Universiti Putra Malaysia Press.
- Adarkwah, M. A., & Zeyuan, Y. (2020). Perceptions of the effect of an EAP course on English self-efficacy and English proficiency: Voices of international students in China. World Journal of English Language, 10(2), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.5430/wjel.v10n2p1
- Aida, Y. (1994). Examination of Horwitz, Horwitz, and Cope's construct of foreign language anxiety: The case of students of Japanese. *The Modern Language Journal*, 78(2), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.1994.tb02026.x
- Alavi, M., & Mansor, S. M. (2011). Categories of problems among international students in Universiti Teknologi Malaysia. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *30*, 1581–1587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.307
- Aldoukalee, S. A. (2013). An investigation into the challenges faced by Libyan PhD students in Britain: A study of the three universities in Manchester and Salford (Doctoral dissertation). University of Salford, United Kingdom.

- Alghail, A. A., & Mahfoodh, O. H. (2015). Cognitive adjustment of international students in a Malaysian public university. *International Journal for Innovation Education and Research*, 3(12), 130–138. https://doi.org/10.31686/ijier.vol3.iss12.494
- Alghail, A. A., & Mahfoodh, O. H. (2016). Academic reading difficulties encountered by international graduate students in a Malaysian university. *Issues in Educational Research*, 26(3), 369–386.
- Al-Hassaani, A. M., & Qaid, A. F. (2021). Challenges and strategies in teaching speaking skills to the Yemeni EFL learners at Aden University: A case study. *Arab World English Journal*, *12*(1), 498–514. https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol12no1.32
- Alhaysony, M. (2017). Language learning strategies use by Saudi EFL students: The effect of duration of English language study and gender. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 7(1), 18–28. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0701.03
- Alhodiry, A. A. (2016). The Libyan EFL teachers role in developing students motivation. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 232, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.10.020
- Aljaberi, M. A., Juni, M. H., Al-Maqtari, R. A., Lye, M. S., Saeed, M. A., Al-Dubai, S. A., & Kadir Shahar, H. (2018). Relationships among perceived quality of healthcare services, satisfaction and behavioural intentions of international students in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: A cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 8(9), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021180
- Alotumi, M. (2021). EFL college junior and senior students' self-regulated motivation for improving English speaking: A survey study. *Heliyon*, 7(4), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06664
- Al-Zubaidi, K. O. (2012). The academic writing of Arab postgraduate students: Discussing the main language issues. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 66, 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.246
- Al-Zubaidi, khairi O., & Richards, C. (2010). Arab postgraduate students in Malaysia: Identifying and overcoming the cultural and language barriers. *Arab World English Journal*, *I*(1), 107–129. https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol1no1.5
- Amiri, F., & Puteh, M. (2017). Error analysis in academic writing: A case of international postgraduate students in Malaysia. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 8(4), 141–145. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.alls.v.8n.4p.141
- Amiryousefi, M. (2017). The incorporation of flipped learning into conventional classes to enhance EFL learners' L2 speaking, L2 listening, and engagement. *Innovation in Language Learning and Teaching*, 13(2), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/17501229.2017.1394307

- Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1991). Predicting the performance of measures in a confirmatory factor analysis with a pretest assessment of their substantive validities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(5), 732–740. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.76.5.732
- Andrade, M. S. (2006). International students in English-speaking universities. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 5(2), 131–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240906065589
- Anthony, M. A., & Ganesen, S. N. (2012). Comparing local and international Chinese students' English language learning strategies. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 3(2), 52–62. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.alls.v.3n.2p.52
- Appel, M. H., & Goldberg, L. S. (1977). *Topics in cognitive development vol 1.* equilibration: Theory, research, and application. New York and London: Plenum Press.
- Arcuino, C. L. T. (2013). The Relationship between the test of English as a foreign language (TOEFL), The international English language testing system (IELTS) scores and academic success of international master's students (Doctoral dissertation). Colorado State University, United States.
- Attrill, S., McAllister, S., & Lincoln, M. (2016). Predictors of professional placement outcome: Cultural background, English speaking and international student status. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 5(4), 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-016-0289-x
- Bachman, L. F., & Palmer, A. S. (1996). Language testing in practice: Designing and developing useful language tests. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bamford, J. (2008). Strategies for the improvement of international students' academic and cultural experiences of studying in the UK. *The Higher Education Academy*, 4(5), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.7763/ijiet.2014.v4.435
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(6), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Ben-Gal, I. (2005). Outlier detection. *Springer*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/springerreference_62600
- Bennui, P. (2007). A survey on first-year students' opinions concerning causes of their low performance in listening in the English II course at Thaksin University, Phatthalung. 1-15. Retrieved January 15, 2019, from https://scholar.google.com/
- Bernard, H. R. (2006). *Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches* (4th ed.). Oxford: Alta Mira Press.

- Bidabadi, F. S., & Yamat, H. (2011). The relationship between listening strategies used by Iranian EFL Freshman University students and their listening proficiency levels. *English Language Teaching*, 4(1), 26–32. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v4n1p26
- Bingol, M. A., Celik, B., Yildiz, N., & Mart, C. T. (2014). Listening Comprehension Difficulties Encountered by Students in Second Language Learning Class. *Journal of Educational and Instructional Studies in the World*, 4(4), 1–6.
- Boivin, N., & Hasnah Razali. (2013). Content and Language Integration in the Institute of Teacher Education Redesigning the EAP Foundation Programme. *Malaysian Journal of ELT Research*, 9(2), 1–18.
- Bojović, M. (2020). ESP speaking strategies and foreign language anxiety in higher education classroom. *Annual Review of the Faculty of Philosophy*, 45(5), 181–203. https://doi.org/10.19090/gff.2020.5.181-203
- Brisset, C., Safdar, S., Lewis, J. R., & Sabatier, C. (2010). Psychological and sociocultural adaptation of university students in France: The case of vietnamese international students. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *34*(4), 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2010.02.009
- Brown, J. D. (2005). *Testing in language programs*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Brown, L., & Holloway, I. (2008). The adjustment journey of international postgraduate students at an English university. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 7(2), 232–249. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240908091306
- Brunton, M., & Jeffrey, L. (2014). Identifying factors that influence the learner empowerment of international students. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 43, 321–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2014.10.003
- Byrne, B. M. (2010). Structural equation modeling with Amos basic concepts, applications, and programming (2nd ed.). New York, London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Byrne, E., Brugha, R., & McGarvey, A. (2019). 'A melting pot of cultures' –challenges in social adaptation and interactions amongst international medical students. *BMC Medical Education*, *19*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1514-1
- Cazden, C. B. (2011). Dell Hymes's construct of "communicative competence." Anthropology & Education Quarterly, 42(4), 364–369. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1492.2011.01144.x
- Chen, B., Tabassum, H., & Saeed, M. A. (2019). International Muslim students: Challenges and practical suggestions to accommodate their needs on campus. *Journal of International Students*, 9(4), 933–953. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v9i3.753

- Cheung, Y. L. (2010). First publications in refereed English journals: Difficulties, Coping Strategies, and recommendations for student training. *System*, *38*, 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2009.12.012
- Chiang, Y.-nan. (2006). Connecting two anxiety constructs: An interdisciplinary study of foreign language anxiety and interpretation anxiety (Doctoral dissertation). University of Texas Libraries, Austin, TX.
- Cho, H. J. (2017). *Promoting international college students' academic adjustment from self-determination theory* (Doctoral dissertation). Purdue University, India.
- Chou, M.-H. (2021). The impact of the English listening test in the high-stakes national entrance examination on Junior High School students and teachers. *International Journal of Listening*, 35, 53–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2019.1659142 Cohen, A. D. (1996). *Second language learning and use strategies: Clarifying the issues* (3rd ed.). Minneapolis: Center for Advanced Research in Language Acquisition.
- Cohen, J. (1970). Approximate power and sample size determination for common one-sample and two-sample hypothesis tests. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 30, 811–831. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316447003000404
- Covington, M. V., Omelich, C. L., & Schwarzer, R. (1986). Anxiety, aspirations, and self-concept in the achievement process: A longitudinal model with latent variables. *Motivation and Emotion*, 10(1), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00992151
- Cowles, M. P. (1974). N = 35: A rule of thumb for psychological researchers. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 38(3), 1135–1138. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1974.38.3c.1135
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (2nd ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research* (3rd ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (2nd ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Crookall, D., Oxford, R., Horowitz, E. K., & Young, D. J. (1991). Language anxiety: From theory and research to classroom implications. *Prentice Hall*, 20(4), 139–150.
- Cummins, J. (1980). Psychological assessment of immigrant children: Logic or intuition? *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development*, *I*(2), 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/01434632.1980.9994005

- Cummins, J. (1980). The entry and exit fallacy in bilingual education. *NABE Journal*, 4(3), 25–59. https://doi.org/10.1080/08855072.1980.10668382
- Dafouz, E., & Camacho-Miñano, M. M. (2016). Exploring the impact of English-medium instruction on university student academic achievement: The case of accounting. *English for Specific Purposes*, 44, 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esp.2016.06.001
- Darwanto, A. (2014). Strategies for developing speaking skill used by students of English education department: A case study (Doctoral dissertation) Universitas Muhammadiyah Surakarta, Indonesia.
- Dave, S., Brothers, T., Hoversten, L. J., Traxler, M. J., & Swaab, T. Y. (2021). Cognitive control mediates age-related changes in flexible anticipatory processing during listening comprehension. *Brain Research*, 1768, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2021.147573
- De Jesus, O. N. (2014). International undergraduate English language learners' perception of language and academic acquisition through online learning: A qualitative phenomenological study (Doctoral dissertation). Liberty University, Virginia.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). The sage handbook of qualitative research (5th ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Desa, A., Yusooff, F., & Abd Kadir, N. B. (2012). Acculturative stress among international postgraduate students at UKM. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *59*, 364–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.287
- Diaab, S. (2016). Role of faulty instructional methods in Libyan EFL learners' speaking difficulties. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 232, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.10.032
- Dochy, F. J. R. C. (1988). The effect of prior knowledge on learning in educational practice: Studies using Prior Knowledge State Assessment. *Evaluation & Research in Education*, 13(3), 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500799908666952
- Dodge, E. N. (2016). Academic engagement of international students at community colleges: A culturally sensitive measurement model (Doctoral dissertation). Iowa State University, United States.
- Efron, B. (1979). The 1977 riets lecture: bootstrap methods: Another look at the jackknife. *The Annals of Statistics*, 7(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1214/aos/1176344552
- Elaldi, Ş. (2016). Foreign language anxiety of students studying English language and literature: A sample from Turkey. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 11(6), 219–228. https://doi.org/10.5897/err2015.2507

- Elkhafaifi, H. (2005). Listening comprehension and anxiety in the Arabic language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 89(2), 206–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.2005.00275.x
- Ellis, R. (1994). The study of Second language acquisition. Oxford: Oxford University.
- Elturki, E., Liu, Y., Hjeltness, J., & Hellmann, K. (2019). Needs, expectations, and experiences of international students in pathway programs in the United States. *Journal of International Students*, 9(1), 192–210. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v9i1.274
- Enciso, O. L. (2010). Learning strategies: Tracing the term estrategias de aprendizaje: Reflexiones sobre el término. *Revista Electrónica Matices En Lenguas Extranjeras*, 4, 1–33.
- Evans, S., & Green, C. (2007). Why EAP is necessary: A survey of hong kong tertiary students. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, 6, 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeap.2006.11.005
- Fathi, J., Derakhshan, A., & Torabi, S. (2020). The effect of listening strategy instruction on second language listening anxiety and self-efficacy of Iranian EFL learners. *SAGE Open*, 10(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020933878
- Fazeli, S. H. (2012a). The relationship between the extraversion trait and use of the English language learning strategies. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 5(4), 2651–2657. https://doi.org/10.17485/ijst/2012/v5i4.24
- Fazeli, S. H. (2012b). Personality traits as predictors of the social English language learning strategies. *International Journal of Behavioral Social and Movement Sciences*, 1(3), 9–22.
- Fejes, A., & Andersson, P. (2009). Recognising prior learning: Understanding the relations among experience, learning and recognition from a constructivist perspective. *Vocations and Learning*, 2, 37–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12186-008-9017-y
- Ferris, D. (1998). Students' views of Academic Aural/Oral Skills: A Comparative needs analysis. *TESOL Quarterly*, 32(2), 289–316. https://doi.org/10.2307/3587585
- Primer, J. L. (2015). Faculty perception of department chairs' leadership style and perceived effects on music faculty's self-reported productivity (Doctoral dissertation). University of Mississippi, United States.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error: Algebra and statistics. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18(3), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/3150980
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2012). *How to design and evaluate research in Education* (8th ed.). New York,: McGraw Hill.

- Fu, Y., Machado, C., & Weng, Z. (2018). Factors influencing Chinese international students' strategic language learning at ten universities in the U.S.: A mixed-method study. *Journal of International Students*, 8(4), 1891–1913. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v8i4.237
- Gani, S. A., Fajrina, D., & Hanifa, R. (2015). Students' learning strategies for developing speaking ability. *Studies in English Language and Education*, 2(1), 17–30. https://doi.org/10.24815/siele.v2i1.2232
- Gao, X. (2007). Has language learning strategy research come to an end? A response to Tseng et al. (2006). *Applied Linguistics*, 28(4), 615–620. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/amm034
- Gardner, R. C., & Lambert, W. E. (1959). Motivational variables in second-language acquisition. *Canadian Journal of Psychology/Revue Canadienne De Psychologie*, 13(4), 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0083787
- Garnett, J., & Cavaye, A. (2015). Recognition of prior learning: Opportunities and challenges for higher education. *Journal of Work-Applied Management*, 7(1), 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1108/jwam-10-2015-001
- Ghali, N. M. (2018). *International muslim students within a globalized educational context* (Doctoral dissertation). The University of New Mexico, United States.
- Gilakjani, A. P., & Sabouri, N. B. (2016). Learners' listening comprehension difficulties in English language learning: A literature review. *English Language Teaching*, 9(6), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n6p123
- Glew, P. J. (2013). Embedding international benchmarks of proficiency in English in undergraduate nursing programmes: Challenges and strategies in equipping culturally and linguistically diverse students with English as an additional language for nursing in Australia. *Collegian*, 20(2), 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2012.04.002
- Godwin, M. (2016). *International students' use of technology for improving writing skills in college* (Doctoral dissertation). Walden University, United States.
- Goh, C. C. M. (2000). A cognitive perspective on language learners' listening comprehension problems. *System*, 28, 55–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0346-251x(99)00060-3
- Gozali, A. (2016). The adequacy of Krashen's affective filter hypothesis in second language acquisition: A field research in SD Angkasa 2 Medan (Doctoral dissertation) University of Sumatera Utara, Indonesia.
- Griffiths, C. (2004). Language learning strategies: Theory and research. *Individual Differences in Language Learning*, 1, 1–25.

- Griffiths, C., & Oxford, R. L. (2014). The twenty-first century landscape of language learning strategies: Introduction to this special issue. *System*, *43*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2013.12.009
- Gu, Q. (2009). Maturity and interculturality: Chinese students' experiences in UK higher education. *European Journal of Education*, 44(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3435.2008.01369.x
- Guba, E. G. (1985). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *ECTJ*, 29(2), 75–91.
- Guillemin, M., & Gillam, L. (2004). Ethics, reflexivity, and "ethically important moments" in research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 10(2), 261–280. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800403262360
- Haduck, H. J. (2018). *Qualitative study of international student perceptions studying at a public university in Maryland, USA* (Doctoral dissertation). Northcentral University, United States.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2019). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (8th ed.). Cheriton House: Cengage.
- Hajar, A. (2019). *International students challenges, strategies and future vision: A socio-dynamic perspective*. (Ser. Second Language Acquisition: 129). Bristol: Multilingual Matters.
- Hamzah, N. H., & Abdullah, S. binti. (2017). Conceptual framework on adjustments towards international students' satisfaction in Malaysian universities. *International Journal of Education, Psychology and Counselling*, 57–97.
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76(4), 408–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637750903310360
- Hinkin, T. R. (1998). A brief tutorial on the development of measures for use in survey questionnaires. *Organizational Research Methods*, 2(1), 104–121. https://doi.org/10.1177/109442819800100106
- Hmaid, Y. (2014). The impact of teaching oral communication strategies on English language learners in Libya (Doctoral dissertation). De Montfort University, United Kingdom
- Ho, R. (2014). *Handbook of univariate and multivariate data analysis with Ibm Spss* (2nd ed.). New York, London: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Hong-Nam, K., & Leavell, A. G. (2006). Language learning strategy use of ESL students in an intensive English learning context. *System*, *34*(3), 399–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2006.02.002

- Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B., & Cope, J. (1986). Foreign language classroom anxiety. *The Modern Language Journal*, 70(2), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.1986.tb05256.x
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118
- Hunt, S. D., Sparkman, R. D., & Wilcox, J. B. (1982). The pretest in survey research: Issues and preliminary findings. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 19(2), 269–273. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151627
- Hunter-Johnson, Y., & Niu, Y. (2019). Bahamians as international adult learners determined for academic success: Challenges and required support system. *Journal of International Students*, 9(4), 1038–1054. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v9i4.606
- Hymes, D. (1976). Towards linguistic competence. Sociologische Gids, 23(4), 217–239.
- Inhelder, B., Chipman, H. H., & Zwingmann, C. Z. V. (1976). *Piaget and his school: A reader in developmental psychology* (Eds). New York: Springer International Publishing.
- Ith, P. (2014). Interpersonal communication teaching and international students: A study of the instructional challenges of teaching Interpersonal communication to international students at the community college level (Master thesis). Gonzaga University, United States.
- Jalleh, C. M., Mahfoodh, O. H., & Singh, M. K. (2021). Oral Communication apprehension among Japanese EFL international students in a language immersion program in Malaysia. *International Journal of Instruction*, 14(2), 155– 178. https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2021.14210a
- Jayraj, S. J. A. (2019). Jayraj, S. (2019). From 'communicative competence' to 'strategic competence' through Hamlet. *Language in India*, 19(5), 423–433.
- Jia, C., & Hew, K. F. (2021). Toward a set of design principles for decoding training: A systematic review of studies of English as a foreign/second language listening education. *Educational Research Review*, 33, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2021.100392
- Juan, W. X., & Zainol-Abidin, M. J. (2013). Enhancing EFL college students listening comprehension by captioning. ETERNAL (English Teaching Journal), 13(4), 367–404.
- Kajiura, M., Jeong, H., Kawata, N. Y. S., Yu, S., Kinoshita, T., Kawashima, R., & Sugiura, M. (2021). Brain activity predicts future learning success in intensive second language listening training. *Brain and Language*, 212, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2020.104839

- Kamaşak, R., Sahan, K., & Rose, H. (2021). Academic language-related challenges at an English-medium university. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, 49, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeap.2020.100945
- Kazemi, A., & Kiamarsi, S. (2017). An investigation into listening comprehension strategies and the relationship between listening comprehension strategies and overall proficiency level of intermediate and advanced learners. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 8(1), 149–156. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0801.18
- Khalifa, A. E. O. (2010). *Destination Libya: Developing Libya as an internationally-competitive tourism destination* (Doctoral dissertation). University of Wales, United Kingdom.
- Kim, S. (2006). Academic oral communication needs of East Asian international graduate students in non-science and non-engineering fields. *English for Specific Purposes*, 25(4), 479–489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esp.2005.10.001
- Kline, R. B. (2016). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (4th ed.). New York, London: The Guilford Press.
- Kohler, R. (2008). Jean Piaget. Falkenpl: Haupt Verlag.
- Kozulin, A., Gindis, B., Ageyev, V. S., & Miller, S. M. (2003). *Vygotsky's educational theory in cultural context*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Krashen, S. (1981). Second language acquisition. Second Language Learning, 3(7), 19-39.
- Krashen, S. D. (1982). *Principles and Practice in Second Language Acquisition*. Oxford: Pergamon Press Inc.
- Krause, S., Kelly, J., Corkins, J., Tasooji, A., & Purzer, S. (2009). Using students' previous experience and prior knowledge to facilitate conceptual change in an introductory materials course. *In 2009 39th IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1109/fie.2009.5350761
- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 30(3), 607–610. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316447003000308
- Kunasaraphan, K. (2015). English learning strategy and proficiency level of the first year students. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 197, 1853–1858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.246
- Kurum, G., & Erdemli, O. (2021). Challenges encountered by academicians in international students' education: Turkey case. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 91, 145–172. https://doi.org/10.14689/ejer.2021.91.8

- Kusumarasdyati, K. (2004). Listening, viewing and imagination: Movies in EFL classes. In *International Conference on Imagination and Education*, 1-10.
- Lam, J. M. S., Tong, D. Y. K., & M. Ariffin, A. A. (2016). Exploring perceived risk and risk reduction strategies in the pursuit of higher education abroad. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 21(2), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315316662980
- Lan, R., & Oxford, R. L. (2003). Language learning strategy profiles of elementary school students in Taiwan. *IRAL International Review of Applied Linguistics in Language Teaching*, 41(4), 339–379. https://doi.org/10.1515/iral.2003.016
- Lang, X. (2018). International professional graduate students' experiences with socializing into academic literacy communities of practice in United States universities (Doctoral dissertation). University of Rochester, United States.
- Lavasani, M. G., & Faryadres, F. (2011). Language learning strategies and suggested model in adults processes of learning second language. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 15, 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.03.072
- Lee, B., Farruggia, S. P., & Brown, G. T. L. (2015). Academic difficulties encountered by East Asian international university students in New Zealand. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 32(6), 915–931. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2013.806444
- Lee, E. J. (2016). Reducing international graduate students' language anxiety through oral pronunciation corrections. *System*, 56, 78–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2015.11.006
- Lee, H.-chin. (2013). Investigating the effects of student learning of English using COL approach based on situational theories. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(6), 2211–2217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.05.016
- Lee, J. S., & Hsieh, J. C. (2019). Affective variables and willingness to communicate of EFL learners in in-class, out-of-class, and digital contexts. *System*, 82, 63–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2019.03.002
- Lee, M. N. (2004). Global trends, national policies and institutional responses: Restructuring higher education in Malaysia. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, *3*, 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-004-6034-y
- Li, J. (2016). The academic and social challenges of international undergraduate students in US universities: An examination of the pathways program. (Doctoral dissertation). Drexel University, United States.
- Liu, D. (2015). A critical review of Krashen's input hypothesis: Three major arguments. *Journal of Education and Human Development*, 4(4), 139-146. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.15640/jehd.v4n4a16

- Liu, W. (2014). Metacognitive strategy and college English listening teaching for students upgraded from junior colleges to universities. *Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Science and Social Research*, 947–950. https://doi.org/10.2991/icssr-14.2014.208
- Liu, Y. C. (2011). The utilization of listening strategies in the development of listening comprehension among skilled and less-skilled non-native English speakers at the college level (Doctoral dissertation). Texas A & M University, United States.
- Liyanage, I., Bartlett, B., & Tao, T. (2014). Cognitive strategies for dual imperatives: EFL listening and speaking in Chinese universities. *Language Education in Asia*, 5(1), 46–65. https://doi.org/10.5746/leia/14/v5/i1/a05/liyanage_bartlett_tao
- Lyytinen, K. J. (1985). Implications of theories of language for information systems. MIS Quarterly, 9, 61–75. https://doi.org/10.2307/249274
- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1994). The subtle effects of language anxiety on cognitive processing in the second language. *Language Learning*, 44(2), 283–305. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1994.tb01103.x
- Maftoon, P., & Alamdari, E. F. (2020). Exploring the effect of metacognitive strategy instruction on metacognitive awareness and listening performance through a process-based approach. *International Journal of Listening*, 34, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2016.1250632
- Mahfoodh, O. H. (2014). Oral academic discourse socialisation: Challenges faced by international undergraduate students in a Malaysian public university. *International Education Studies*, 7(2), 10–17. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v7n2p10
- Mahmud, Z., Amat, S., Rahman, S., & Ishak, N. M. (2010). Challenges for international students in Malaysia: Culture, climate and care. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 7, 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.10.040
- Manjet, K. (2016). Academic listening practices among international graduate students in English as medium of instruction context: Difficulties and corrective measures. *Social Sciences & Humanities*, 24(4), 1579–1599.
- Marsh, H. W., & Hocevar, D. (1985). Application of confirmatory factor analysis to the study of self-concept: First- and higher order factor models and their invariance across groups. *Psychological Bulletin*, 97(3), 562–582. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.97.3.562
- Martirosyan, N. M., Hwang, E., & Wanjohi, R. (2015). Impact of English proficiency on academic performance of international students. *Journal of International Students*, 5(1), 60–71. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v5i1.443
- Maxwell, J. A. (2008). Designing a qualitative study. *The SAGE Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*, 2, 214–253. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483348858.n7

- McKnight, A. (2004). *Learning by listening and note-taking? International students and academic lectures* (Doctoral dissertation). La Trobe University, Australia.
- McLeod, S. (2018). Jean Piaget's Theory of Cognitive Development. *Simply Psychology*, 18(3), 1–9.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Imprint.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mohammadipour, M. (2018). Relationships between language learning strategies, positive emotions, language learning motivation and English language proficiency among Malaysian ESL undergraduates (Doctoral dissertation). Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.
- Moradi, Z., & Talebi, S. H. (2014). The effect of pre-speaking strategies instruction in strategic planning on Iranian EFL students' awareness as well as students' fluency and lexical resources in speaking. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 98, 1224–1231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.537
- Mulyadi, D., Wijayatiningsih, T. D., Singh, C. K., & Prastikawati, E. F. (2021). Effects of technology enhanced task-based language teaching on learners' listening comprehension and speaking performance. *International Journal of Instruction*, 14(3), 717–736. https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2021.14342a
- Nation, P. (2020). The role of the first language in foreign language learning. *Asian EFL Journal*, 15, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.26686/wgtn.12560333.v1
- Ngo, N. (2019). Understanding the impact of listening strategy instruction on listening strategy use from a socio-cultural perspective. *System*, 81, 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2019.01.002
- Odlin, T. (1989). Language transfer: Cross-linguistic influence in language learning. *Journal of the Japan association of Language teachers*, 11(2), 155–269. https://doi.org/10.2307/415550
- O' Malley, J. M., & Chamot, A. U. (1990). *Learning strategies in second language acquisition*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Olutokunbo, A. S., Ismail, I. A., & Suandi, T. (2013). Academic experience of international students on scholarships in Malaysian universities: The case of a private university college. *International Journal of Learning and Development*, 3(6), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijld.v3i6.4606
- O'Malley, J. M., Chamot, A. U., & Kupper, L. (1989). Listening comprehension strategies in second language acquisition. *Applied Linguistics*, *10*(4), 418–437. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/10.4.418

- O'Malley, J. M., Chamot, A. U., Stewner-Manzanares, G., Kupper, L., & Russo, R. P. (1985). Learning strategies used by beginning and intermediate ESL students. *Language Learning*, 35(1), 21–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1985.tb01013.x
- Omar, Y. Z. (2016). Perceptions of selected Libyan English as a foreign language teachers regarding teaching of English in Libya (Doctoral dissertation). University of Missouri, United States.
- Owen, E. A., Razali, A. B., & Elhaj, I. A. (2019a). From the past to the present: A view of teaching English as a foreign language (EFL) in Libya and the role of communicative language teaching (CLT) approach. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 9(2), 459–476. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i2/5580
- Owen, E. A., Razali, A. B., Abd Samad, A., & Noordin, N. (2019b). Enhancing Libyan students' English speaking performance through language game and information gap activities. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 77(1), 110–125. https://doi.org/10.33225/pec/19.77.110
- Oxford, R. L. (1989). Use of language learning strategies: A synthesis of studies with implications for strategy training. *System*, 17(2), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0346-251x(89)90036-5
- Oxford, R. L. (1990). Language learning strategies: What every teacher should know.

 Boston: Heinle & Heinle.
- Oxford, R. L. (1992). Research on second language learning strategies. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 13, 174–187.
- Oxford, R. L., & Ehrman, M. (1992). Second language research on individual differences. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 13, 188–205. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0267190500002464
- Pallant, J. (2005). Spss survival manual (2nd ed.). Crows Nest NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Pandian, A., Baboo, S. B., & Mahfoodh, O. H. A. (2013). Perception of international students on multiculturalism in Malaysian universities. *Labyrinth: An International Refereed Journal of Postmodern Studies*, 4(2), 194–207.
- Park, E., Klieve, H., Tsurutani, C., & Harte, W. (2017). International students' accented English—communication difficulties and developed strategies. *Cogent Education*, 4, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2017.1314651
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2017). A guide to field notes for qualitative research: Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(3), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317697102
- Piaget, J., & Ackermann-Valladao, E. (1987). Possibility and Necessity: The Role of Possibility in Cognitive Development.-159 S. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Polat, M., & Erişti, B. (2019). The effects of authentic video materials on foreign language listening skill development and foreign language listening anxiety at different levels of English proficiency. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, 6, 135–154. https://doi.org/10.33200/ijcer.567863
- Pourfarhad, M., Ahmad Azmey, F. L., & Hassani, L. (2012). Perceptions of international students on academic literacy focusing on speaking and listening skills in Malaysia. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 69, 197–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.399
- Pride, J. B., & Holmes, J. (1972). D. H. Hymes on communicative competence. *Sociolinguistics*, 42(4), 269–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1492.2011.01144.x
- Quadir, M. (2014). Relationships between learners' motivation factors and speaking strategy factors to learn oral communication in English. *The English Teacher*, 43(3), 113–135.
- Rachmawaty, N., Wello, M. B., Akil, M., & Dollah, S. (2018). Do cultural intelligence and language learning strategies influence students' English language proficiency? *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 9(3), 655–663. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0903.27
- Richards, J. C., & Schmidt, R. (2010). Longman dictionary of language teaching and applied linguistics. (4th ed.). London: Pearson, Longman.
- Rizkan, A. M., Mukhaiyar, M., & Refnaldi, R. (2018). The effect of using YouTube as a teaching media on the students' listening skill (the case of 2nd semester students of English education study program of IKIP-PGRI Pontianak). *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research*, 301, 286–291. https://doi.org/10.2991/icla-18.2019.48
- Rose, H., Briggs, J. G., Boggs, J. A., Sergio, L., & Ivanova-Slavianskaia, N. (2018). A systematic review of language learner strategy research in the face of self-regulation. *System*, 72, 151–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2017.12.002
- Rost, M. (2014). Listening in a multilingual world: The challenges of second language (L2) listening. *International Journal of Listening*, 28(3), 131–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2014.937895
- Rubin, J. (1975). What the "good language learner" can teach us. *TESOL Quarterly*, 9(1), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.2307/3586011

- Rubin, J. (1981). Study of cognitive processes in second language learning1. *Applied Linguistics*, 2(2), 117–131. https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/ii.2.117
- Saad, N. S. M., Naif, A. H., & Hanisa, H. (2017). The ISLES (international students' learning experiences): The human touch. *IJAEDU- International E-Journal of Advances in Education*, 344–355. https://doi.org/10.18768/jaedu.336462
- Saad, N. S. M., Sidek, H. H. aM., Baharun, H., Idrus, M. M., & Yunus, M. M. (2016). A conceptual framework to explore the English language learning experiences of international students in Malaysia. *IJAEDU-International E-Journal of Advances in Education*, 2(6), 453–464. https://doi.org/10.18768/ijaedu.281043
- Saadat, U. (2019). Factors influencing willingness to communicate in English among EFL iranian PhD students in a public university in Malaysia (Doctoral dissertation). Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia.
- Sabet, M. K., & Babaei, H. R. (2017). On the relationship between the IELTS listening and listening in academic English programs. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies*, 8(2), 170–179. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.alls.v.8n.2p.170
- Said, I. A., & Yassin, M. A. (2014, February 20). *Malaysia top destination for Libyan students to further studies ENVOY*, pp. 1–2.
- Salkind, N. J. (2012). *Exploring research*. (8th ed.). San Francisco: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Sandhu, R. K. (2017). A qualitative study of Asian American Indian international students' anticipated and actual experiences (Doctoral dissertation). Capella University, United States.
- Saraswaty, D. R. (2018). Learners' difficulties & strategies in listening comprehension. *English Community Journal*, 2(1), 139–152. https://doi.org/10.32502/ecj.v2i1.1003
- Sarmiento, A. V., Pérez, M. V., Bustos, C., Hidalgo, J. P., & Solar, J. I. del. (2019). Inclusion profile of theoretical frameworks on the study of sociocultural adaptation of international university students. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 70, 19–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2019.02.004
- Sarwari, A. Q., Ibrahim, A. H., & Nor Ashikin, A. A. (2016). The impact of english language proficiency on interpersonal interactions among students from different nationalities in a Malaysian public university. *Social Sciences & Humanities*, 24(1), 415–428.
- Sawir, E. (2005). Language difficulties of international students in Australia: The effects of prior learning experience. *International Education Journal*, *6*(5), 567–580.
- Sax, L. J., Gilmartin, S. K., & Bryan, A. N. (2003). Assessing response rates and nonresponse bias in web and paper surveys. *Research in Higher Education*, 44(4), 409–432.

- Schwartz, L. S. (2016). The language learning needs of beginner-level international students enrolled in intensive English programs affiliated with American institutions of higher education: A case study (Doctoral dissertation). Hampshire University, United States.
- Seliger, H. W., & Shohamy, E. (1989). *Second language research methods*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Serraj, S., & Noordin, N. (2013). Relationship among Iranian EFL students' foreign language anxiety, foreign language listening anxiety and their listening comprehension. *English Language Teaching*, 6(5), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v6n5p1
- Setiyadi, B. (2016). Language learning strategy questionnaire (LLSQ) A Measurement to identify students' learning strategies and prepare the success of learning English in the Indonesian context (empirical evidence). Indonesia: Graha Ilmu.
- Shafaei, A., & Abd-Razak, N. (2016). What matters most: Importance-performance matrix analysis of the factors influencing international postgraduate students' psychological and sociocultural adaptations. *Quality & Quantity*, *52*, 37–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-016-0418-y
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-2004-22201
- Shorouk, A. M. (2020). The effect of using YouTube to increase the level of listening skills among non-native students of Arabic speakers in Malaysian universities. *Education Quarterly Reviews*, 3(2), 207–219. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1993.03.02.133
- Silverman, D. (2013). *Doing qualitative research* (4th ed.). California: SAGE Publications, Ltd.
- Singh, J. K. N. (2018). What are the factors that contribute to postgraduate international students' academic success? A Malaysian qualitative study. *Higher Education Research* & *Development*, 37(5), 1035–1049. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2018.1467383
- Singh, M. K. (2013). Academic speaking practices of international graduate students in a higher education institution in Malaysia: Challenges and overcoming strategies. *International Journal of Education and Research*, *1*(7), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v4n4p76
- Singh, M. K. (2014). Challenges in academic reading and overcoming strategies in taught master programmes: A case study of international graduate students in Malaysia. *Higher Education Studies*, 4(4), 76–88. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v4n4p76

- Singh, M. K. (2019). Lecturers' views: Academic English language-related challenges among EFL international master students article. *Journal of Applied Research in Higher Education*, 11(2), 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1108/jarhe-07-2018-0117
- Singh, M. K. M., Pandian, A., & Singh, S. K. G. (2013). International graduate students' experience in academic listening practices in a Malaysian public university: Challenges and overcoming measures. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 91–102.
- Sioson, I. C. (2011). Language learning strategies, beliefs, and anxiety in academic speaking task. *Philippine ESL Journal*, 7, 3–27.
- Skyrme, G. (2007). Entering the university: The differentiated experience of two Chinese international students in a New Zealand University. *Studies in Higher Education*, 32(3), 357–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075070701346915
- Southgate, A. N. J. (2021). Preparation of undergraduate health and care students from the United Kingdom for an international learning experience in Japan: A phenomenological study. *Nurse Education Today*, 98, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104649
- Splan, R. K., Estepp, C. M., Porr, C. A. S., Broyles, T. W., & Velasco, J. G. (2017). Assessment of learning outcomes and self-regulated learning among undergraduate equine science students in a short-duration study abroad program.

 Journal of Equine Veterinary Science, 100(52), 120–121.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jevs.2017.03.202
- Sreen, S., & Ilankumaran, M. (2019). Learning strategies for cognitive development to enhance the speaking skills in second language. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering(IJRTE)*, 8(1C2), 1045–1050.
- Stillwell, C. G. (2018). Active learning for international student users of English as a second language in higher education: Help or Hindrance? (Doctoral dissertation). University of California, , United States.
- Suleimenova, Z. (2013). Speaking anxiety in a foreign language classroom in Kazakhstan. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *93*, 1860–1868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.10.131
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics*. (5th ed.). San Francisco: Pearson Education. Inc.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics*. (6th ed.). San Francisco: Pearson Education. Inc.
- Takac, P. V. (2008). *Vocabulary learning strategies and foreign language acquisition*. Bristol: Multilingual Matters.

- Talebloo, B., & Baki, R. (2013). Challenges faced by international postgraduate students during their first year of studies. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *3*(13), 138–145.
- Teddlie, C., & Tashakkori, A. (2009). Foundations of mixed methods research: integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches in the social and behavioral Sciences. London: SAGE Publications, Inc
- Tham, S. Y., & Kam, A. J. Y. (2008). Internationalising higher education: Comparing the challenges of different higher education institutions in Malaysia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 28(4), 353–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/02188790802468880
- Trang, T. T. (2012). A review of Horwitz, Horwitz and Cope's theory of foreign language anxiety and the challenges to the theory. *English Language Teaching*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v5n1p69
- Trenkic, D., & Warmington, M. (2018). Language and literacy skills of home and international university students: How different are they, and does it matter? Bilingualism: Language and Cognition, 22(2), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1017/s136672891700075x
- Trice, A. G., & Yoo, J. E. (2007). International graduate students' perceptions of their academic experience. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 6(1), 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240907074788
- Trigwell, K., Ashwin, P., & Millan, E. S. (2013). Evoked prior learning experience and approach to learning as predictors of academic achievement. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83(3), 363–378. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.2012.02066.x
- Tsai, S. C. (2017). Academic listening and note-taking: A multiple-case study of first-year international undergraduate students' experiences in different instructional contexts at an american university (Doctoral dissertation). The Ohio State University, United States.
- Tuengkun, S. (2014). Listening strategies used by Asian students for understanding lectures in American universities (Doctoral dissertation). Texas A&M University, United States.
- Ulker, N. (2020). Prior learning experiences and academic life in the USA in different voices: The case of Turkish international dual-diploma students. *Research in Post-Compulsory Education*, 25(2), 149–170. https://doi.org/10.1080/13596748.2020.1742983
- Ungureanu, C., & Georgescu, C. A. (2012). Learners' strategies in language learning. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 46, 5000–5004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.375

- VanPatten, B., & Williams, J. (2015). *Theories in second language acquisition: An introduction* (2nd ed.). New York: Routledge.
- Victori, M., & Lockhart, W. (1995). Enhancing metacognition in self-directed language learning. *System*, 23(2), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/0346-251x(95)00010-h
- Walker, G. R. (1978). The effect of various cognitive strategies in the control of public speaking anxiety (Master thesis). University of Richmond, United States.
- Walsh, R. L. (2019). *International student experiences with cooperative education* (Doctoral dissertation). Northeastern University, United States.
- Wette, R., & Furneaux, C. (2018). The Academic discourse socialisation challenges and coping strategies of international graduate students entering English-medium universities. *System*, 78, 186–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.09.001
- Wirawan, H., & Bandu, M. T. (2016). A review of self-efficacy training for international student. *The International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, 33(2), 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijilt-12-2015-0040
- Wolf, D. M., & Phung, L. (2019). Studying in the United States: Language learning challenges, strategies and support services. *Journal of International Students*, 9(1), 211–224. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v9i1.273
- Woodrow, L. (2005). The challenge of measuring language learning strategies. *Foreign Language Annals*, 38(1), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-9720.2005.tb02456.x
- Wu, X. (2019). More than silence: Chinese international students' academic socialization experiences in speaking activities in US higher education (Doctoral dissertation). University of Rochester, United States.
- Xing, D. (2017). Exploring academic acculturation experiences of Chinese international students with low oral English proficiency: A musically enhanced narrative inquiry (Doctoral dissertation). Queen's University, Canada.
- Xu, J. (2016). The relationship between the use of speaking strategies and performance on IELTS speaking test: A study on Chinese college students. *International Journal for 21st Century Education*, 3(2), 69–96. https://doi.org/10.21071/ij21ce.v3i2.5856
- Yahaya, N. (2018). The Impact of the Fourth Industrial Revolution on Higher Education in the Asia Pacific: Recent development of international higher education in Malaysia. Retrieved December 15, 2018, from https://docplayer.net/93385599-Recent-development-of-international-higher-education-in-malaysia.html
- Yan, K., & Berliner, D. C. (2013). Chinese international students' personal and sociocultural stressors in the United States. *Journal of College Student Development*, 54(1), 62–84. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2013.0010

- Yang, H. H., & Farley, A. (2019). Quantifying the impact of language on the performance of international accounting students: A Cognitive Load Theory perspective. *English for Specific Purposes*, 55, 12–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esp.2019.03.003
- Yang, N.-D. (1998). Exploring a new role for teachers: Promoting learner autonomy. *System*, 26, 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0346-251x(97)00069-9
- Yang, W. (2018). The deployment of English learning strategies in the CLIL approach: A comparison study of Taiwan and Hong Kong tertiary level contexts. *ESP Today*, 6(1), 44–64. https://doi.org/10.18485/esptoday.2018.6.1.3
- Yang, Y., Li, Y., Wang, X., Liu, N., Jiang, K., Zhang, S., & Qiu, J. (2021). Cognitive inhibition mediates the relationship between ESL listening proficiency and English spoken word segmentation in Chinese learners: A functional near-infrared spectroscopy (FNIRS) study. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 59, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2021.100987
- Yates, L., & Wahid, R. (2013). Challenges to brand Australia: International students and the problem with speaking. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 32(6), 1037–1050. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2013.806447
- Yavari, F., & Shafiee, S. (2019). Effects of shadowing and tracking on intermediate EFL learners' oral fluency. *International Journal of Instruction*, 12(1), 869–884. https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2019.12156a
- Yee, C. M., Kai, F. B., Liang, L. C., & Nee, P. A. (2015). Foreign students' enrolment in Malaysian higher education institution Doctoral dissertation). Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman, Malaysia.
- Yenkimaleki, M., & Heuven, V. J. van. (2019). The relative contribution of computer assisted prosody training vs. instructor based prosody teaching in developing speaking skills by interpreter trainees: An experimental study. *Speech Communication*, 107, 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.specom.2019.01.006
- Young, D. J. (1992). Language anxiety from the Foreign Language Specialist's perspective: Interviews with krashen, Omaggio Hadley, Terrell, and Rardin. *Foreign Language Annals*, 25(2), 2–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-9720.1992.tb00524.x
- Youssef, A. M. S., & Bose, H. (2015). Challenges in the learning of English as a foreign language in Libyan high school. *International Journal of English*, 5(1), 17–22.
- Youssef, S. (2018). International teaching assistant (ITA) training program at Bowling Green State University: Putting the needs of ITAs and the expectations of undergraduate native English-speaking students (NESSS) in conversation (Doctoral dissertation). Bowling Green State University, United States.

- Yulisa, D. (2018). Learning to listen: Listening strategies and listening comprehension of Islamic senior high school students. *Edukasi: Jurnal Pendidikan Dan Pengajaran*, 5(1), 22–30. https://doi.org/10.19109/ejpp.v5i1.2046
- Yunus, N. M., & Singh, K. K. (2014). The use of indirect strategies in speaking: Scanning the MDAB students. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 123, 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1416
- Yusoff, Y. M. (2012). Self-efficacy, perceived social support, and psychological adjustment in international undergraduate students in a public higher education institution in Malaysia. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *16*(4), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315311408914
- Yusoff, Y. M., & Chelliah, S. (2010). Adjustment in international students in Malaysian public university. *International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology*, 3(12), 275–278.
- Zainuddin, Z., Habiburrahim, Muluk, S., & Keumala, C. M. (2019). How do students become self-directed learners in the EFL flipped-class pedagogy? A study in higher education. *Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 8(3), 678–690. https://doi.org/10.17509/ijal.v8i3.15270
- Zare, P. (2012). Language Learning Strategies Among EFL/ESL Learners: A review of literature. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 2(5), 162–169.
- Zarrabi, F. (2020). Investigating the relationship between learning style and metacognitive listening awareness. *International Journal of Listening*, *34*, 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/10904018.2016.1276458
- Zhang, J. (2018). Acculturative stress, english proficiency, social support, and coping strategies among chinese international students (Doctoral dissertation). University of Nevada, United States.
- Zhang, X., Dai, S., & Ardasheva, Y. (2020). Contributions of (de) motivation, engagement, and anxiety to English listening and speaking. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 79, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2020.101856